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National Dentex Corporation

Coinpty Profile

National Dentex Corporation headquartered in Natick Massachusetts suburb of Boston is one of the largest

operators of dental laboratories in the United States It serves an active customer base of over 24000 dentists

through its 41 full-service and five branch laboratories located in 30 states and one Canadian province

Our dental laboratories provide full range of custom-made dental prosthetic appliances including dentures

crowns and fixed bridges and other dental specialties Each of our dental laboratories is operated as stand alone

facility under the direction of local manager responsible for the operation of the dental laboratory supervision of

its technical and sales staff and delivery of quality products and services

Our corporate staff provides marketing financial and administrative services negotiates Company-wide

purchasing arrangements and sets quality and performance standards for the dental laboratories

Our objective is to remain leading national operator of dental laboratories by acquiring additional laboratories

and by improving laboratory profitability at our existing facifities We intend to focus our acquisition activities on

both full-service laboratories and other dental laboratories that can be integrated with existing operations

We plan to enhance our services to clients at existing and acquired dental laboratories by building on our full-

service capabilities utilizing our NDX Reliance Program.TM At the heart of this program is the goal of forming long

term relationships with our clients built on trust and open communication Such relationships will

comprehensively meet the needs of our clients practices thereby ensuring the best possible care for their patients

NDX RELIANCE

Reliance Practice Support

ChairTime Saver SystemTM in-lab and in-office consultations qualified technical support patient education materials

case presentation models

Reliance Laboratory Systems

Computerized case scheduling and doctor preference tracking Case Critique Cards qualified assistance with difficult

cases ongoing advanced training for lab personnel

Reliance Oualitv Assurance

Established quality standards in-process quality Check and Communicate points compliance with doctor

prescriptions and preferences on-time delivery easy identification of training needs

Reliance Restorations

Full range of restorative options state-of-the-art materials and equipment high caliber craftsmanship technological

expertise

Reliance Continuinji Education Series

Knowledge Based Relationships CEU-approved clinics with industry leaders Study Group programs NDX Reliance

Restorative Systems seminars Reliance Technical Bulletins

The Bottom Line. .100% Guaranteed



Letter to our Shareholders

To no ones surprise 2008 was difficult year and all

indications seem to point to much of the same in 2009 We believe we
have taken appropriate actions to plan our way through this economic

downturn by extending our credit facility to 2011 taking aggressive

actions to reduce costs through headcount reductions and spending cuts

and limiting and prioritizing our capital requirements for the next

several years We will continue to focus on identifying opportunities to

generate additional cost reductions in order to compete in this difficult

economy We believe these short and medium term reactions along with

continued commitment to our long-term strategy of building client

relationships on trust and open communications will give us competitive advantage in the

marketplace Vital to that strategy is the NDX team who carries it out and makes it visible

to our clients Their understanding of the complexities of the economic environment and the

intense technological competition we face will be key to our success As new and

innovative technologies continue to impact our industry and dentistry in general its critical

that we lead in identifying and developing the strategic opportunities that will ultimately

deliver enhanced value to our clients practices Our Companys ability and willingness to

support and help drive these technological opportunities we believe will deliver superior

client experiences and define our future

The capital markets are also undergoing some fundamental changes There is less

appetite for risk on their part and therefore premium paid for increased leverage This

necessitates conservative working capital management style that may somewhat impact our

acquisition program We will continue to search out and partner with larger stable

laboratories but are aware that in this constricted credit environment our focus on our core

business is paramount

am extremely proud of the efforts and dedication of our entire team and look

forward to creating brighter future that will benefit all our stakeholders including our

shareholders our employees our clients and their patients and our suppliers

David Brown

President Chief Executive Officer

April 2009



NDX raahtk
In thousands except per share amounts

Net Sales

Laboratory Operating Income

Percent of Sales

Operating Income before Impairment Amortization Interest and Taxes.

Percent of Sales

Goodwill Impairment

Income before Provision for Taxes

Net Income

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding diluted

Net Income per Share diluted

As of December 31

2007 2008

$1689 $2110

$33125 $33019

$27124 $23492

$6001 $9527

$155639 $161515

$91192 $90492

Year ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

$150107 $170361 $171674

$22107 $25467 $23516

14.7% 14.9% 13.7%

$12483 $14573 $11295

8.3% 8.6% 6.6%

-- $6950

$9432 $10486 $1095

$5763 $6626 $877

5732 5665 5631

$1.01 $1.17 $0.16

Dollars in thousands

Cash and Equivalents

Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Working Capital

Total Assets

Stockholders Equity

2006

$648

$29052

$22820

$6232

$148490

$82794

Number of Employees
2156 2027 1981
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PART

Item Business

General

We were founded in 1982 as HM Laboratories Services Inc Massachusetts corporation which acquired

six full-service dental laboratories and related branch laboratories from Healthco Inc In 1983 we changed our

name to National Dentex Corporation and acquired 20 additional full-service dental laboratories and related branch

laboratories from Lifemark Corporation Our acquisition strategy is to consolidate our position within the dental

laboratory industry and use our financial and operational synergies to create competitive advantage Over the last

five
years we have acquired the following stand-alone laboratory facilities in 2004 D.H Baker Dental in 2005

Womson-Polzin Dental Laboratory and Green Dental Laboratories in 2006 Impact Dental and the Keller Group
and in 2008 Dental Art Laboratories Impact located in the Canadian province of Ontario was our first acquisition

outside of the United States Over the past five years we also acquired various smaller laboratories that we have

consolidated into our existing operations

We currently own and operate 46 dental laboratories consisting of 41 full-service dental laboratories and

branch laboratories located in 30 states throughout the United States and in one province of Canada Our dental

laboratories custom design and fabricate dentures crowns and fixed bridges and other dental prosthetic appliances

Each dental laboratory operates under its own business name Our principal executive offices are located at Vision

Drive Natick MA 01760 telephone number 508 907-7800 Our corporate web site is located at www.natio

naldentex.com We make available free of charge through our website our annual report on Form 10-K quarterly

reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as practicable after we electronically file such material

with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission References to our website address are provided for

convenience only and do not constitute or should be viewed as an incorporation by reference of the information

contained therein Therefore such information should not be considered part of this report

Information as to Industry and Operating Segments

Our business consists of single industry segment which is the design fabrication marketing and sale of

custom dental prosthetic appliances for and to dentists We report on three reportable segments within this single

industry segment These three segments are known as Green Dental representing the operations of Green Dental

Laboratories Inc of Heber Springs Arkansas which we acquired in March 2005 Keller representing the

operations of Keller Group Incorporated with laboratories in St Louis Missouri and Louisville Kentucky which

we acquired in October 2006 and NDX Laboratories which represents our remaining laboratories including

Impact Dental Laboratory Limited which we acquired in October 2006 and Dental Art which we acquired in

September 2008 You will find information about these segments in Note 11 Segment Information which you
will find in Part II Item of this annual report

Description of Business

Our dental laboratories in all three of our reportable segments design and fabricate custom dental prosthetic

appliances such as dentures crowns and bridges These products are produced by trained technicians working in

dental laboratories in accordance with work orders and cases consisting of impressions models and occlusal

registrations of patients teeth provided by the dentist Dentists are the direct purchasers of our products

Our products are grouped into the following three main categories

Restorative Products Restorative products that our dental laboratories sell consist primarily of crowns and

bridges crown replaces the part of tooth that is visible and is usually made of gold porcelain or zirconia

bridge is restoration of one or more missing teeth that is permanently attached to the natural teeth or roots In

addition to the traditional crown we also make porcelain jackets which are crowns constructed entirely of

porcelain onlays which are partial crowns which do not cover all of the visible tooth and precision crowns which



are restorations designed to receive and connect removable partial denture We also make inlays which are

restorations made to fit prepared tooth cavity and then cemented into place

Reconstructive Products Reconstructive products sold by our dental laboratories consist primarily of partial

dentures and full dentures Partial dentures are removable dental prostheses that replace missing teeth and

associated structures Full dentures are dental prostheses that substitute for the total loss of teeth and associated

structures We also sell precision attachments which connect crown and an artificial prosthesis and implants

which are fixtures anchored securely in the bone of the mouth to which crown partial or full denture is secured by

means of screws or clips

Cosmetic Products Cosmetic products sold by our dental laboratories consist primarily of porcelain veneers

and ceramic crowns Porcelain veneers are thin coverings of porcelain cemented to the front of tooth to enhance

personal appearance Ceramic crowns are crowns made from ceramic materials that most closely replicate natural

teeth We also sell composite inlays and onlays which replace silver fillings for more natural appearance and

orthodontic appliances which are products fabricated to move existing teeth to enhance function and appearance

Laboratory and Corporate Operations

Our full-service dental laboratories design and manufacture full range of custom-made dental prosthetic

appliances These custom products are manufactured from raw materials such as high noble noble and predom

inantly base alloys zirconia dental resins composites and porcelain There are different production processes
for

the various types of prosthetic appliances depending upon the product and the materials used in the type of

appliance being manufactured each of which requires different skills and levels of training Our dental laboratories

perform numerous quality control checks throughout the production cycle to improve the quality of our products

and to better ensure that the design and appearance satisfy the needs of the dentist and the patient Our branch dental

laboratories are smaller in size and offer limited number of products When branch receives an order that it

cannot fill the branch refers the order to one of our affiliated full-service dental laboratories

We operate each of our dental laboratories as stand-alone facility under the direction of local manager

responsible for operation of the dental laboratory supervision of its technical and sales staff and delivery of quality

products and services Most of our dental laboratories market and sell their products through their own direct sales

force supported by group managers and company-wide marketing programs Employees at each dental laboratory

have direct stake in the financial success of the dental laboratory through participation in our performance

incentive plans

Our corporate management provides our overall strategy direction and financial management and negotiates

all acquisitions Corporate personnel also support the operations of our dental laboratories by performing functions

that are not directly related to the production and sale of dental laboratory products such as processing payroll and

related benefit programs obtaining insurance and procuring financing Our corporate management provides

marketing financial and administrative services negotiates national purchasing arrangements and sets quality and

performance standards for our dental laboratories Finally our corporate management includes industry recognized

technical experts who guide and direct our investments in new technology and materials

Sales and Marketing

The majority of our local dental laboratories market and sell their products through their own direct sales force

The sales force interacts with dentists within its local market area primarily through visits to dentists offices to

introduce the dental laboratorys services and products offered and to promote new products and techniques that

can assist dentists in expanding their practices Our dentist-focused marketing and sales program entitled the NDX
Reliance ProgramTM is specifically designed to make choosing dental laboratory an easier decision for dentists

Its five components Practice Support Laboratory Systems Quality Assurance Reliance Restorations and

Continuing Education Series differentiate our qualified laboratories from their many competitors We believe

that this unique approach to assist the dentist and his or her staff to improve chairtime efficiencies while providing

exceptional service superior quality and quick and timely product delivery will enhance our ability to expand our

base of business by establishing lasting professional relationships with our customers Our laboratories currently

employ total of 48 sales representatives In addition our dental laboratories alone or with local dental societies



dental schools or study clubs sponsor technical training clinics for dentists and their staffs on topics such as

advanced clinical techniques The local dental laboratories also exhibit at state and local dental conventions

Following our acquisition of Keller in 2006 we now also market more directly to the entire United States

marketplace Keller markets using direct mail and trade advertising approach and focuses on products that can

generate strong revenue growth In addition we have long-tenn exclusive product license for the NTI-tss plus
device that is an alternative to full-coverage bite guards which is also approved by the FDA for use in the treatment

of medically diagnosed migraine pain and jaw disorders We believe this additional product offering will help us to

further diversify our business growth strategy

Competition

The dental laboratory industry is highly competitive and fragmented typical dental laboratorys business

originates from dentists located within 50 miles of the dental laboratory We believe there are currently approx

imately 12000 dental laboratories in the United States We estimate that our sales presently represent less than 3%
of the total sales of custom-made dental prosthetic appliances in the United States We face competition primarily

from other dental laboratories in the respective local market areas The vast majority of dental laboratories consist of

single business units although we recognize that there are several other multiple-location operators including

Dental Services Group Dental Technologies Inc and NovaDent These groups compete with us in several market

areas We also face competition from various mail order dental laboratories most notably Glidewell Laboratories

The domestic industry has experienced growing competition from low-wage countries particularly from

laboratories manufacturing in China Competition for business in the low-price segment of the marketplace has

grown over the last three years Dental laboratories manufacturing in China including Dentsply-Prident Dentalle

Exceldent DentUSA Beijing Dental Lab Sun Dental Lab and Trident operate large modern facilities In addition

to partnering with laboratories in the United States some have also reached agreements to provide laboratory

services for some of the larger price focused economy dental practice chains In addition the number of smaller

domestic competitors that seek to take advantage of these low wage economies and compete primarily using price

as the main differentiator has continued to grow In 2008 we partnered with Dentsply-Prident to offer high quality

economical restoration manufactured with FDA registered materials for those practices that are more price focused

than our typical customer We believe that this strategic product offering which has been made available in select

marketplaces based on individual customer needs and is coupled with customer level disclosures regarding country
of origin materials and our satisfaction guarantee provides our dentists with risk-free outsourced restoration We
continue to evaluate such competitive threats as well as our own growth opportunities arising from globalization and

changing marketplaces to ensure we continue to provide the products and services required by our clients at

competitive prices

Our ability to produce quality products locally to deliver such products on timely basis to provide

convenience for the dentist through the breadth of our product line to provide technical assistance and our

sponsorship of educational clinics all provide us with what we consider to be competitive advantage over other

dental laboratories in the local markets in which our dental laboratories operate Most dentists use limited number

of dental laboratories We believe they prefer and tend to rely on those laboratories which produce quality products

delivered on timely basis and which carry all of the products which they may need even if particular item is

newer specialty product used only sporadically by the dentist While price is one of the competitive factors in the

dental laboratory industry we believe that most dentists consider product quality and consistency service and

breadth of product line to also be important factors in selecting dental laboratories We believe that we compete

favorably with respect to all of these factors Our ability to provide newer specialty products for implantology adult

orthodontics and cosmetic dentistry which require highly skilled technicians more extensive inventories addi

tional working capital and investment in both training and capital equipment also distinguishes us from the many
other dental laboratories which do not have comparable resources to provide these products While such specialty

products presently represent less than 20% of our business we believe that the ability to offer these products will

become increasingly essential for dental laboratories to remain competitive Additionally our ability to offer

computer-assisted design and computer-assisted manufacturing CAD-CAMfabricated metal-free restorations

through our own centralized milling centers allows us to participate fully in this fast growing segment



Employees

As of December 31 2008 we had 1981 employees 1919 of whom worked at individual laboratories

Corporate management and administrative staff totaled 62 people None of our employees are covered by

collective bargaining agreement Management considers our employee relations to be good

Intellectual Property

Our general technological know-how experience and workforce are important to the conduct of our business

Each of our dental laboratories operates under its own trade name and we consider these trade names to be

materially important to the conduct of our business Also important is the development and maintenance of

customer relationships We expect that our continued focus on ensuring our clients get consistent product that is

delivered on time and meets or exceeds their quality expectations will continue to assist us in generating and

maintaining customer relationships and the goodwill of our dental laboratories We also have licensed long-term

exclusive manufacturing and distribution rights to fabricate and market the lab version of the NTI-tss plus device

Finally while we have several other trademarks and licenses to use trademarks we do not deem these to be material

to the overall conduct of our business

Backlog

Due to the individualized and customized nature of most dental products and typical turnaround product

cycle of less than seven days there was no significant backlog of orders existing at December 31 2008 and 2007

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our business is subject to certain risks that could materially affect our financial condition results of operations

and the value of our common stock These risks include but are not limited to the ones described below Additional

risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of or that we may currently deem immaterial may become important

factors that harm our business financial condition results of operations or the value of our common stock

Our success depends on economic and other external factors that affect consumer decisions about whether

and when to have dental procedures performed

Our business success depends in large measure on consumer decisions to have dental procedures performed In

this respect demand for our products and our business results are sensitive to external factors that directly or

indirectly affect consumer confidence affect levels of disposable consumer income or otherwise lead consumers to

defer or elect not to have dental procedures performed Examples of such external factors include the timing

duration and effects of adverse changes in overall economic conditions including rates of job loss or growth rising

food and energy prices tightening consumer credit and the resulting problems in the housing market and increases

in medical and dental costs nationally or regionally in the markets we serve Trends in the dental industry towards

managed care may also result in decreased consumer access to dental services and thereby adversely affect demand

for our products and our sales and profitability The precise impact of these external factors is difficult to predict in

advance but one or more of these factors could adversely affect our business to the extent they adversely affect

consumer spending on dental procedures

The US and world economy are experiencing recession which some believe may extend beyond 2009

Recessions and other economic downturns especially prolonged downturns as well as disruptions in the credit and

stock markets can result in lower levels of economic activity lower employment levels less consumer disposable

income and lower economic confidence As noted above any of these factors can reduce discretionary consumer

spending Many or our cosmetic dental products may be considered discretionary spending by consumers If

consumers reduce or delay spending on cosmetic dental products our business and financial performance may be

adversely affected



We operate in highly competitive and fragmented market that is increasingly global in scope

The dental laboratory industry is highly competitive and fragmented We believe there are currently

approximately 12000 dental laboratories in the United States We estimate that our sales presently represent

less than 3% of the total sales of custom-made dental prosthetic appliances in the United States Competition is

primarily from other dental laboratories in the respective local market areas The vast majority of dental laboratories

consist of single business units although there are several other multiple-location operators including Dental

Services Group Dental Technologies Inc and NovaDent These groups compete with us in several market areas

We also face competition from various mail order dental laboratories most notably Glidewell Laboratories Our

success thus depends on our ability to be competitive against many different competitors in each market area we

serve If we fail to anticipate evolving technological innovations and product offerings from our competitors

particularly offerings that seek to leverage lower labor costs available in foreign countries or fall to offer products

that appeal to the changing needs and preferences of our customers in the various markets we serve demand for our

products could decline and our operating results would be adversely affected While the competitive importance of

product quality price service and innovation varies from product to product price is factor and we experience

pricing pressures from competitors in our markets

We face increased competitive pressures from larger competitors foreign-sourced products and

technology-based solutions

The industry in which we operate continues to change and evolve Increasing competitive pressures
from

offshore laboratories based in China India and elsewhere are impacting sales growth and selling prices of certain

core products particularly partial frames and traditional crowns Technology-based dental laboratory CAD-CAM
solutions have required us to make additional investments in capital equipment While we expect these capital

investments to continue to benefit our operations in future periods there is no assurance that they will be able to do

so Certain of these technology-based solutions also enable dentists to fabricate restorations in their offices rather

than purchasing them from an off-site laboratory

Moreover the dental laboratory industry has continued to consolidate and is increasingly drawing the attention

of private equity investors While the consequences of these changes in the dental laboratory industry are not yet

fully known these competitors may now have greater financial and other resources than previously available to

them which could increase competitive pressures on our operations These developments could impact the

availability of suitable acquisition candidates or otherwise increase the costs of acquiring dental laboratories

Price pressures from such new sources of competition could erode our margins and cause our financial results

of operations to suffer Our success depends on our ability to evaluate and respond to the threats arising from

growing foreign competition changing marketplaces and new technology and our ability to identify ways in which

we can competitively provide the products and services demanded by our customers

Our failure to generate sufficient cash to meet our liquidity needs may affect our ability to service our

indebtedness and grow our business

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness principally the amounts borrowed under

our senior credit facility and to fund planned capital expenditures and expansion efforts and strategic acquisitions

we may make in the future if any will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future This to certain extent

is subject to general economic financial competitive and other factors that are beyond our control

Based on our current level of operations we believe our cash flow from operations together with available

cash and available borrowings under our senior credit facility will be adequate to meet future liquidity needs in the

coming year However we cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations in

the future or that future borrowings will be available to us under the senior credit facility in an amount sufficient to

enable us to service indebtedness undertake strategic acquisitions to grow our business or to fund other liquidity

needs If we need to refinance all or portion of our indebtedness we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so

on commercially reasonable terms or at all



The amounts that we have borrowed under our senior credit facility have increased significantly as result of

our acquisitions of Green in 2005 Keller in 2006 and Dental Art in 2008 Increased borrowings have substantially

increased the amount of cash that we need to generate from our operations in order to meet our principal and interest

payment obligations In the event that our financial performance was to deteriorate it could result in higher interest

rates under our senior credit facility or default under the facility if we are unable to maintain compliance with the

financial ratio and other covenants in the facility

We may be more leveraged than some of our competitors which could adversely affect our business plans

We have incurred significant levels of debt in pursuing our strategic acquisitions Thus relatively greater

portion of our cash flow is used to service this debt This in turn has reduced the funds we have available for working

capital capital expenditures additional acquisitions and other purposes and significant part of our growth

strategy is to acquire additional dental laboratories Given current credit conditions and the level of our existing

indebtedness it may be more difficult for us to make additional borrowings in the future affecting our growth

strategy

Similarly our relatively greater leverage increases our vulnerability to and limits our flexibility in planning

for adverse economic and industry conditions and creates other competitive disadvantages compared with other

companies with relatively less leverage especially in times of industry consolidation

Our Senior Credit Facility contains number offinancial and other covenants that may restrict our ability

to engage in some business transactions

We have entered into senior credit facility with Bank of America N.A which includes single line of credit

of $25 million and term loan facility As of December 31 2008 the outstanding balance was $24.6 million on the

term loan and $16.7 million on the revolving line of credit The credit agreement restricts our ability and the ability

of our subsidiaries to among other things engage in number of actions including incurring or guaranteeing

additional indebtedness merging or consolidating with acquiring substantially all of the stock or assets of any other

companies acquiring additional dental laboratories making investments transferring assets incurring or permit

ting to exist liens and making any
material changes to the nature of our business The credit facility also contains

other covenants that are typical for credit facilities of this size type and tenor such as requirements that we meet

specified financial ratios and financial condition tests Our ability to make additional borrowings under the facility

depends upon satisfaction of these covenants Our ability to meet these covenants and requirements may be affected

by events beyond our control

Our failure to comply with obligations could result in an event of default under the credit facility default if

not cured or waived could permit acceleration of our indebtedness We cannot be certain that we will be able to

remedy any default If our indebtedness is accelerated we cannot be certain that we will have funds available to pay

the accelerated indebtedness or that we will have the ability to refinance the accelerated indebtedness on terms

favorable to us or at all

An impairment in the carsying value of goodwill or other acquired intangibles could negatively affect our

operating results and net worth

General economic conditions or other factors resulting in changes in the industry in which we operate

competition advances in technology or other factors may lead to reductions in expected sales profitability or cash

flows that could result in impairment of goodwill and other acquired intangible assets If the value of goodwill or

other acquired intangibles is impaired our earnings net worth and financial covenants could be adversely affected

The goodwill impairment analysis is two-step process The first step is used to identify potential impairment

and involves comparing each reporting units estimated fair value to its carrying value including goodwill Fair

value is determined by using an income approach consistent with our valuation of dental laboratories acquired in

purchase business combinations We determine fair value based on the estimated future cash flows of each reporting

unit based on multiple of annual earnings Determining the fair value of reporting unit is judgmental in nature

and requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions including revenue growth rates and profit margin



percentages and future market conditions among others Our projections are based on an internal forecasts and

business review If the estimated fair value of reporting unit exceeds its carrying value goodwill is not considered

to be impaired However if the carrying value exceeds estimated fair value there is an indication of potential

impairment and the second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment

The second step of the goodwill impairment process involves the calculation of an implied fair value of

goodwill for the laboratories which step one indicated were impaired The implied fair value of goodwill is

determined similar to how goodwill is calculated in business combination by measuring the excess of the

estimated fair value of the reporting unit as calculated in step one over the estimated fair values of the individual

assets liabilities and identifiable intangibles as if the reporting unit was being acquired in business combination If

the carrying value of goodwill assigned to reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill an

impairment charge is recorded for the excess In determining the fair value of assets we utilize valuations of certain

intangible assets including trade names and customer relationships The analysis we completed for December 31
2008 determined that the fair value of ten dental laboratories in the NDX Laboratories operating segment was less

than their carrying value resulting in goodwill impairment of $6950000 As of December 31 2008 we had

$69384000 of goodwill remaining on our consolidated balance sheet If the conditions noted above were to

significantly deteriorate we may need to record additional goodwill impairment charges which could adversely

effect our earnings net worth and debt covenants

Risks associated with our strategic acquisitions could adversely affect our business

We have completed number of acquisitions in recent years Our acquisition strategy depends on our ability to

identify laboratories that are suitable acquisition candidates successfully negotiate and enter into transactions on

acceptable terms and our capacity to integrate and successfully operate newly acquired as well as our previously

acquired laboratories If we fail to locate suitable acquisition candidates reach mistaken conclusions as to the

suitability of laboratories as acquisition candidates enter into transactions on terms that prove unfavorable to us or

fail to integrate new laboratories following an acquisition our ability to operate and grow our business in the ways

we would like could be materially and adversely affected While we will continue to consider acquisitions as

means of enhancing shareowner value acquisitions involve risks and uncertainties including

difficulties integrating the acquired company retaining the acquired laboratories customers and achieving

the expected benefits of the acquisition such as revenue increases cost savings and increases in geographic

or product presence in the desired time frames if at all

loss of key employees from the acquired company

implementing and maintaining consistent standards controls procedures policies and information

systems and

diversion of managements attention from other business concerns

Our long-term success depends in part on our ability to acquire additional dental laboratories in manner that

achieves appropriate returns on our capital invested If we are unable to generate the required sales or profit levels

as result of macroeconomic or operational challenges we will not acquire new dental laboratories and our future

financial performance could be materially and adversely affected Additionally future acquisitions could cause us

to incur additional debt contingent liabilities increased interest expense and higher amortization expense related to

intangible assets as well as experience dilution in earnings per share Impairment losses on goodwill and intangible

assets with an indefinite life or restructuring charges could also occur as result of acquisitions which could

adversely affect our results of operations and cause us to violate the covenants under our senior credit facility

If we fail to develop new or expand existing customer relationships our ability to grow our business will be

impaired

Our growth depends on our ability to develop new customer relationships with dentists maintain existing

relationships and to expand existing relationships with our current customers We cannot guarantee that new

customers will be found that any such new relationships will be successful when they are in place or that business



with current customers will increase Failure to develop and expand such relationships could have material

adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

If we cannot continue to respond to technical innovations we may not be able to compete effectively

We believe that our future success will depend in part upon our ability to continue to respond to technological

innovations by the dental industry and introduce innovative design extensions for our existing products and to

manufacture and market new products We cannot assure you that we will be successful in the introduction

manufacturing and marketing of any new products or product innovations or develop and introduce in timely

manner innovations to our existing products that satisfy our dentist customers needs or achieve market acceptance

Our failure to introduce new products successfully and in timely manner and at favorable margins could harm our

ability to successfully grow our business and could have material adverse effect on our business results of

operations and financial condition

Our failure to attract and retain qualified personnel would adversely affect our business

Our success depends in part on the efforts and abilities of our senior management team and key employees

number of which are approaching retirement age Their skills experience and industry contacts significantly benefit

our operations and administration The failure to attract retain and properly motivate the members of our senior

management team and key employees or to find suitable replacements for them in the event of death ill health

resignation or retirement could have negative effect on our operating results

Our business results are adversely affected by increases in labor benefits and related costs

The costs of medical and other benefits have increased in recent years The increased usage of medical benefits

has intensified medical inflation in the United States If such trends continue then our business could be negatively

affected Changes in law that may increase the funding of and the expense reflected for employee benefits could

also adversely affect our financial results of operations financial position and competitiveness

Our operating results can be adversely affected by changes in the cost or availability of raw materials

particularly precious metals like gold platinum and palladium

Pricing and availability of raw materials for use in our businesses most especially precious metals like

gold platinum and palladium which are components of many dental alloys can be volatile due to numerous

factors beyond our control including domestic and international economic and geopolitical conditions production

levels competition consumer demand and investor speculation This volatility can significantly affect the

availability and cost of raw materials for us and may therefore have material adverse effect on our business

results of operations and financial condition During periods of rising prices of raw materials there can be no

assurance that we will be able to pass any portion of such increases on to customers Prolonged higher metal costs

may thus have negative impact on gross profit percentages Conversely when raw material prices decline

customer demands for lower prices could result in lower sale prices and to the extent we have existing inventory

lower margins As result fluctuations in raw material prices could have material adverse effect on our business

results of operations and financial condition The combination of higher precious metal prices and increasing

offshore competition has made it more difficult for us to pass on these additional costs without impacting our

customer base

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance public disclosure and accounting standards

may result in additional expenses and risks

Changing laws regulations and standards relating to corporate governance public disclosure and accounting

practices including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 new Securities and Exchange Commission regulations and

evolving rules applicable to publicly-traded companies on the NASDAQ Global Market are creating uncertainty

and hence risks for companies such as ours These new or changed laws regulations and standards are subject to

varying interpretations due to the fact that they are new and there has not yet emerged well-developed body of

interpretation As result their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by



regulatory and governing bodies This development could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance

matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure governance and accounting practices

Our efforts to comply with evolving laws regulations and standards have resulted in and are likely to continue

to result in increased general and administrative expenses and an investment of management time and attention

from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities In particular our efforts to comply with Section 404 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related regulations regarding our required assessment of our internal

controls over financial reporting and our external auditors audit of that assessment has required the commitment of

significant financial and managerial resources If our efforts to comply with new or changed laws regulations and

standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies we could face many material and

adverse consequences including possible delisting of our common stock

We are subject to number of continuing listing standard requirements of Nasdaq If we fail to comply with

these listing standards we may be subject to delisting

Our common stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq Global Market Nasdaq Nasdaq marketplace rules

require among other things that the minimum bid price of our common stock not go below $1 for 30 consecutive

business days However Nasdaq has suspended this requirement until April 20 2009 If we failed to comply with

the minimum listing bid price requirement or any other continued listing standards and were unable to cure such

defect within the alloted time following the receipt of any notice from Nasdaq regarding our failure to achieve such

continued listing standard Nasdaq might delist our common stock Delisting would have an adverse effect on the

liquidity of our common stock and as result the market price for our common stock might become more volatile

Delisting could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional capital

We may face increased regulatory action by among other governmental entities the United States Food and

Drug Administration the FDA
Since 2007 the industry has faced increased scrutiny from the FDA and other governmental entities

concerning the safety and efficacy of dental products distributed in the United States from both foreign and

domestic laboratories As result of this scrutiny the FDA may propose possible registration certification material

content and point of origin disclosure Several states have passed legislation for combination of material content

and point of origin disclosures that will go into effect in 2009 Potential changes in laws regulations and standards

involving these issues while new and evolving are creating uncertainty in compliance requirements and could

result in higher costs in order to comply with any revisions or additions to them and may create new legal liabilities

if we fail to do so

Our business may be adversely affected by the actions of and risks associated with our third-party suppliers

If we experience declining operating performance or if we experience liquidity challenges our suppliers may
demand accelerated payment of amounts due to them or require advance payments or letters of credit before goods

are shipped to us These demands could have significant adverse impact on our operating cash flow and result in

drain on our liquidity In addition many of our suppliers may be significantly impacted by current macroeconomic

conditions We may have no warning before supplier fails which may have an adverse effect on our business and

results of operations Further we cannot control the cost of our raw products and cost increases must either be

passed along to our customers or will result in erosion of our earnings

Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report particularly statements contained in Item Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations constitute forward-looking state

ments within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended The words anticipate believe estimate expect plan
intend and other similarexpressions are intended to identify these forward-looking statements but are not the

exclusive means of identifying them Forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report or hereafter

included in other publicly available documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC



reports to our stockholders and other publicly available statements issued or released by us involve known and

unknown risks uncertainties and other factors which could cause our actual results performance financial or

operating or achievements to differ from the future results performance financial or operating or achievements

expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements Such future results are based upon our best estimates

based upon current conditions and the most recent results of operations We assume no obligation to update these

forward-looking statements contained in this report whether as result of new information future events or

otherwise

Various risks uncertainties and contingencies could cause our actual results performance or achievements to

differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual

Report These include but are not limited to those listed above in this Item 1A Risk Factors

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable

Item Properties

We currently lease total of approximately 380000 square feet of space As of December 31 2008 the future

aggregate minimum rent payable for all of our leased real properties was approximately $20729000 We consider

these properties to be modem well maintained and suitable for our purposes and believe that our current facilities

are adequate to meet our needs for the foreseeable future We also believe that suitable substitute or replacement

space is readily available at reasonable rental rates Our principal executive and administrative offices occupy

approximately 15000 square feet of space in Natick Massachusetts Our 40 leased dental laboratories range in size

from 1000 to 40000 square feet and average approximately $89000 in annual base rent

As of December 31 2008 we owned six of our dental laboratory facilities at locations in Heber Springs

Arkansas Metairie Louisiana Shreveport Louisiana Addison Texas Houston Texas and Waukesha Wisconsin

These locations total approximately 152000 square feet and range in building size from 10000 to 41000 square

feet As of December 31 2008 we held for sale our former Denver Colorado facility comprising approximately

6000 square
feet

All of our owned real property is used in connection with our NDX Laboratories operating segment except for

our Heber Springs Arkansas facility which is used by our Green Dental operating segment Our third operating

segment Keller uses leased property located in St Louis Missouri and Louisville Kentucky

Item Legal Proceedings

We are involved from time to time in litigation incidental to our business Our management believes that the

outcome of current litigation will not have material adverse effect upon our operations or financial condition and

will not disrupt our normal operations

On May 2008 the U.S Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit issued favorable ruling in patent

infringement case PSN Illinois LLC vs Ivoclar Vivadent Inc et al in which we were defendant In its ruling

the Court of Appeals affirmed federal district courts previous grant of summary judgment in favor of the

defendants on the grounds of non-infringement The plaintiff subsequently petitioned for rehearing and that

request was denied on July 16 2008 On October 14 2008 the plaintiff filed petition for certiorari requesting

review of the case by the U.S Supreme Court which was subsequently denied All appeals have now been

exhausted and accordingly this case is now closed

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Trading Market

The NASDAQ Global Market Nasdaq is the principal market for our common stock where our shares are

traded under the symbol NADX Our common stock has been publicly traded since December 21 1993

The following table sets forth the
range of high and low sale prices for our common stock for each of the fiscal

quarters of 2007 and 2008 The sale prices set forth below are based on information provided by NASDAQ

Price

Quarter Ending Low High

03/31/07 $13.96 $17.51

06/30/07 $13.01 $20.95

09/30/07 $14.74 $19.91

12/31/07 $13.60 $18.00

03/31/08 $11.50 $16.84

06/30/08 $10.05 $13.25

09/30/08 6.01 $12.60

12/31/08 4.19 6.90

Holders

The approximate number of record holders of our common stock as of March 2009 was 586 The number of

record owners was determined from our stockholder records and does not include beneficial owners of our common

stock whose shares are held in the names of various security holders dealers and clearing agencies We believe that

the number of beneficial owners of our common stock held by others in nominee names is approximately 1055

beneficial holders

Dividends

We have never paid cash dividend on our shares of common stock and have no expectation of doing so for the

foreseeable future

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

In November 2002 we announced that our Board of Directors approved the repurchase by us of up to

300000 shares of our common stock pursuant to stock repurchase program During the year ended December 31

2008 we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock We continue to consider repurchases on the open

market or in privately-negotiated transactions at managements discretion in each case subject to applicable

securities law In addition before making any repurchases we are required to obtain approval from our lender under
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the terms of the credit facility The following table provides information about our repurchase activity during fiscal

2008 and the number of shares that may yet be purchased under our stock repurchase program

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Maximum Number

Total Number of of Shares that

Shares Purchased May Yet Be

Total Number Average as Part of Publicly Purchased Under

of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans the Plans or

Fiscal Period Purchased per Share or Programs Programs

January 2008 December 31 2008 206700
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return of our common stock during the five

fiscal years ended December 31 2008 with the cumulative total return of the NASDAQ Industrial Index and peer

group index described more fully below

This graph is not deemed to be filed with the SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and the graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any prior or

subsequent filings by us under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN AMONG NATIONAL DENTEX NADX
NASDAQ INDUSTRIAL INDEX AND PEER GROUP INDEX

200

NADX

NASDAQ

____

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

12-31-03 12-31-04 12-31-05 12-31-06 12-31-07 12-31-08

NADX 100.00 126.88 140.88 109.38 99.50 28.44

NASDAQ 100.00 115.84 115.98 130.35 135.85 74.27

Peers 100.00 131.62 111.38 121.11 146.63 87.59

Assumes $100 invested on December 31 2003 in our common stock the NASDAQ Industrial Index and the

Peer Group Index including reinvestment of any dividends paid on the investment

The Peer Group Index consists of Dentsply International Inc and Patterson Companies Inc We believe that

these companies represent the other publicly traded companies within the dental service community
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data for the five years ended December 31 2008 are derived from our audited

consolidated financial statements The data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements

and the related notes included in this Report and in conjunction with Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Dollars in thousands except per share data

Consolidated Statements of Income

Net sales $111753 $135843 $150107 $170361 $171674

Cost of goods sold 66953 78381 88269 97739 102184

Gross profit 44800 57462 61838 72622 69490

Selling general administrative expenses 35755 44728 50097 58562 58588

Goodwill impairment 6950

Operating income 9045 12734 11741 14060 3952

Other expense 405 646 786 771 747

Interest expense 42 665 1523 2803 2110

Income before provision for income taxes 8598 11423 9432 10486 1095

Provision for income taxes 3439 4334 3669 3860 1972

Net income loss 5159 7089 5763 6626 877

Net income loss per
share basic 0.99 1.33 1.05 1.20 0.16

Net income loss per
share diluted 0.94 1.27 1.01 1.17 0.16

Weighted average shares outstandingbasic 5187 5334 5485 5540 5631

Weighted average shares outstandingdiluted 5465 5601 5732 5665 5631

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Working capital 13750 11126 6232 6000 9527

Total assets 81831 117119 148490 155639 161515

Long-term debt including current portion 18701 35458 29695 39258

Stockholders equity 66883 76074 82794 91192 90492

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements

and the related notes that appear elsewhere in this document

Certain statements in this Annual Report particularly statements contained in this Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations constitute forward-looking state

ments within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended The words anticipate believe estimate expect plan

intend and other similar expressions are intended to identify these forward-looking statements but are not the

exclusive means of identifying them Forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report or hereafter

included in other publicly available documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC
reports to our stockholders and other publicly available statements issued or released by us involve known and

unknown risks uncertainties and other factors which could cause our actual results performance financial or

operating or achievements to differ from the future results performance financial or operating or achievements

expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements Such future results are based upon our best estimates

based upon current conditions and the most recent results of operations Various risks uncertainties and

contingencies could cause our actual results performance or achievements to differ materially from those
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expressed in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report These include but are

not limited to those described above under Item 1A Risk Factors We assume no obligation to update these

forward-looking statements contained in this report whether as result of new information future events or

otherwise

Overview

We own and operate 46 dental laboratories located in 30 states and one Canadian province serving an active

customer base of over 24000 dentists Our business consists of the design fabrication marketing and sale of

custom dental prosthetic appliances for dentists located primarily in the domestic marketplace

Our products are grouped into the following three main categories

Restorative Products Restorative products that our dental laboratories sell consist primarily of crowns and

bridges crown replaces the part of tooth that is visible and is usually made of gold porcelain or zirconia

bridge is restoration of one or more missing teeth that is permanently attached to the natural teeth or roots In

addition to the traditional crown we also make porcelain jackets which are crowns constructed entirely of

porcelain onlays which are partial crowns which do not cover all of the visible tooth and precision crowns which

are restorations designed to receive and connect removable partial denture We also make inlays which are

restorations made to fit prepared tooth cavity and then cemented into place

Reconstructive Products Reconstructive products sold by our dental laboratories consist primarily of partial

dentures and full dentures Partial dentures are removable dental prostheses that replace missing teeth and

associated structures Full dentures are dental prostheses that substitute for the total loss of teeth and associated

structures We also sell precision attachments which connect crown and an artificial prosthesis and implants

which are fixtures anchored securely in the bone of the mouth to which crown partial or full denture is secured by

means of screws or clips

Cosmetic Products Cosmetic products sold by our dental laboratories consist primarily of porcelain veneers

and ceramic crowns Porcelain veneers are thin coverings of porcelain cemented to the front of tooth to enhance

personal appearance Ceramic crowns are crowns made from ceramic materials that most closely replicate natural

teeth We also sell composite inlays and onlays which replace silver fillings for more natural appearance and

orthodontic appliances which are products fabricated to move existing teeth to enhance function and appearance

Recent Trends

We believe that the economic recession in the United States has negatively impacted the entire dental

laboratory industry as price-sensitive consumers postpone elective dental work The increasing severity of the

current economic crisis coupled with rising unemployment and problems in the housing and credit markets has

further eroded consumer confidence Additionally we believe that the low cost segment for United States

manufactured dental prosthetics has declined as competition from offshore laboratories primarily those located

in China has become more intensive While our business has not traditionally focused on this low cost segment of

the market certain customers are sensitive to price competition As result these increasing competitive pressures

have restrained somewhat our ability to increase prices Since 2007 these increasing competitive pressures in the

form of low price competition have been partially responsible for decreasing revenues or revenue growth in several

marketplaces In 2008 we partnered with Dentsply-Prident to offer high quality economical restoration

manufactured in China with FDA registered materials for those practices that are more price focused than our

typical customer We believe that this strategic product offering which has been made available in select

marketplaces based upon individual customer needs and is coupled with patient level disclosures regarding

country of origin materials and our satisfaction guarantee provides our dentists with risk-free outsourced

restoration In addition we face growing competition from technology-based solutions that allow dentists to

fabricate their own restorations without the use of dental laboratory These trends appear to be restraining industry

growth and have impacted our results of operations

The main components of our costs are labor and related employee benefits as well as raw materials including

precious metals such as gold and palladium Over the past several years competition for labor resources and
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increases in medical insurance costs as well as volatility in the prices of many precious metals that we use have

driven these costs higher In 2007 we evaluated and adjusted staffing levels as appropriate at each of our locations

while continuing to recognize the need to maintain an available and properly trained workforce Beginning in the

fourth quarter of 2008 and continuing into 2009 we have continued to proactively reduce staffing levels to improve

profitability and eliminate excess capacity in response to the economic recession and the decline in consumer

discretionary spending We have also focused on reducing discretionary operating expenses to manage through the

current recessionary environment Additionally technology-based dental laboratory CAD-CAM manufacturing

solutions have required us to make additional investments in capital equipment Our ability to afford and utilize

these CAD-CAM systems provides us the opportunity to centrally produce product for many of our laboratories at

more efficient and profitable levels We are focusing on more completely leveraging this technology investment to

reduce labor costs Therefore we believe that these investments are critical to our long-term business strategy

Acquisitions

We continue to pursue strategic acquisitions which have played an important role in helping us increase sales

from $111753000 in 2004 to $171674000 in 2008 In March 2005 we completed the acquisition of Green Dental

Laboratories Inc Green Green is treated as separate reportable segment for financial reporting purposes In

October 2006 we completed our largest acquisition to date that of Keller Group Incorporated Keller of

St Louis Missouri Keller is also treated as separate reportable segment for financial reporting purposes Most

recently in September 2008 we completed the acquisition of Dental Art Laboratories Inc Dental Art of

Lansing Michigan Our Consolidated Statement of Income reflects the financial results of Dental Art for the last

four months of fiscal 2008

The acquisition of Keller has broadened our marketing strategies and product offerings In recent years Keller

has changed its focus from local markets in the Midwest to the national marketplace In order to sustain this strategy

Keller invests significantly in product advertising primarily in dental print publications and direct mail on products

that can generate strong revenue growth One of these products is the NTI-tss plUsTM device NTI an alternative to

full-coverage bite guards that is also approved by the FDA for use in the treatment of medically diagnosed migraine

pain and jaw disorders Sales growth for NTI for which Keller holds long-term exclusive product license was

approximately $894000 or 13.3% in fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007

We have used long-term debt to finance the purchase of Green Keller and Dental Art Future acquisitions may
also be funded using available debt financing As result of these acquisitions we are more highly leveraged than

we were previously Our interest
expense

has therefore become more significant component of our pre-tax

earnings Interest expense
in 2007 was $2803000 compared to $1523000 in 2006 and $665000 in 2005

However due primarily to lower interest rates interest
expense

declined from $2803000 for 2007 to $2110000

for 2008 which contains four months of interest
expense

related to the debt that funded the acquisition of Dental

Art

Overview of Results of Operations

For the year ended December 31 2008 sales increased $1314000 to $171674000 Net sales increased by

approximately $2665000 as result of the Dental Art acquisition Net sales decreased approximately $1351000

at dental laboratories owned for the full year ended December 31 2008 and 2007 Furthermore approximately

$550000 of sales growth was attributable to the effect of increased prices due to the underlying increases in the

prices of precious metals passed through to customers without which sales growth would have been further

negative The decline in sales was primarily attributable to decreased patient demand particularly in the fourth

quarter of 2008 resulting from the drop in consumer discretionary spending as the recession deepened Excluding

the acquisition of Dental Art sales declined $2112000 in the fourth quarter of 2008 Sales growth in the fourth

quarter of 2008 for Keller relative to their performance in the first nine months of 2008 was flat at $84000 or 1.3%

In the fourth quarter sales declined $89000 at Green and $2107000 at the NDX Laboratories

For the year ended December 31 2008 gross profit decreased by $3132000 compared to the year ended

December 31 2007 Within our cost of sales employee benefits costs primarily health insurance costs increased
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by $489000 as result of higher claims experience Labor costs increased by approximately $1675000 including

$995000 in cost of sales over the prior year as result of base pay increases including raises related to

modification of the Laboratory Incentive Compensation plan the Laboratory Plan The former plan was

designed to reward operating efficiency The modified plan is now designed to provide incentives for growth in

profits As result of these and other design changes the reported amounts of laboratory incentive compensation are

significantly less this year than in the past Conversely labor expenses are somewhat higher within both cost of

goods sold and operating expenses with laboratory incentive compensation decreasing by $3281000 for the year

ended December 31 2008 compared to the prior year

Our annual goodwill impairment assessment has historically been completed at the end of the second quarter

Based on our initial assessment for 2008 the fair value of our business units exceeded their carrying value and

therefore our goodwill was not impaired As economic conditions worsened in the fourth quarter and our business

performance and outlook was not as strong as anticipated at the end of the second quarter management determined

that circumstances had changed enough to perform an additional goodwill impairment test as of December 31

2008

The goodwill impairment analysis is two-step process The first step is used to identify potential impairment

and involves comparing each reporting units estimated fair value to its carrying value including goodwill Fair

value is determined by using an income approach consistent with our valuation of dental laboratories acquired in

purchase business combinations We determine fair value based on the estimated future cash flows of each reporting

unit based on multiple of annual earnings Determining the fair value of reporting unit is judgmental in nature

and requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions including revenue growth rates and profit margin

percentages and future market conditions among others Our projections are based on an intemal forecasts and

business review If the estimated fair value of reporting unit exceeds its carrying value goodwill is not considered

to be impaired However if the carrying value exceeds estimated fair value there is an indication of potential

impairment and the second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment The analysis we completed for

December 31 2008 determined that the fair value of ten dental laboratories in the NDX Laboratories operating

segment was less than their carrying value

The second step of the goodwill impairment process involves the calculation of an implied fair value of

goodwill for the laboratories which step one indicated were impaired The implied fair value of goodwill is

determined similar to how goodwill is calculated in business combination by measuring the excess of the

estimated fair value of the reporting unit as calculated in step one over the estimated fair values of the individual

assets liabilities and identifiable intangibles as if the reporting unit was being acquired in business combination If

the carrying value of goodwill assigned to reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill an

impairment charge is recorded for the excess In determining the fair value of assets we utilize valuations of certain

intangible assets including trade names and customer relationships The carrying value of the goodwill assigned to

these laboratories exceeded the implied fair value of goodwill resulting in goodwill impairment of $6950000 As

of December 31 2008 we had $69384000 of goodwill remaining on our consolidated balance sheet

Within operating expenses increases in deferred compensation accruals and market declines in the investment

values of related insurance policies combined to increase expenses by $730000 Primarily as result of rising fuel

costs in 2008 delivery costs increased $694000 As result of the factors discussed above particularly the

impairment of goodwill income before provision for income taxes decreased by $9391000 or 89.6% to

$1095000 for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to $10486000 for the year ended December 31 2007

Liquidity and Capital Resources

On August 2005 we entered into an amended and restated financing agreement the Amended Agreement

with Bank of America N.A the Bank The Amended Agreement included revolving line of credit of

$5000000 revolving acquisition line of credit of $20000000 and term loan facility of $20000000 The

interest rate on both revolving lines of credit and the term loan was the prime rate or at our option LIBOR cost of

funds rate or the Banks fixed rate plus range of 1.25% to 2.25% depending on the ratio of consolidated funded

debt to consolidated EBITDA as defined in the Amended Agreement The Amended Agreement required

monthly payments of principal on the term loan based on seven year amortization schedule with final payment
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due on the fifth anniversary of the Amended Agreement The Amended Agreement required compliance with

certain covenants including the maintenance of specified net worth income and other financial ratios

In October 2006 we borrowed against our acquisition line of credit to finance our acquisition of Keller In order

to refinance the borrowings incurred for the Keller acquisition we and the Bank executed Second Amended and

Restated Loan Agreement as of November 2006 the Second Agreement comprising uncollateralized senior

credit facilities totaling $60000000 The Second Agreement amended and restated the Amended Agreement to

increase the term loan facility to an aggregate principal amount of $35000000 and used the proceeds of the

increase in the term loan to repay the portion of the outstanding principal balance under the acquisition line of credit

and to adjust the allocation of availability under the lines of credit by increasing the revolving line of credit to

$10000000 $5000000 of which may be used for future acquisitions and decreasing the acquisition line of credit

from $20000000 to $15000000 The interest rate on both lines of credit and the term loan was the prime rate or at

our option LIBOR cost of funds rate or the Banks fixed rate plus in each case range of 1.25% to 3.00%

depending on the ratio of consolidated total funded debt to consolidated EBITDA as each is defined in the

Second Agreement The term loan facility portion of the Second Agreement requires monthly interest payments and

monthly payments of principal based on seven year amortization schedule with final payment due on the fifth

anniversary of the Second Agreement The Second Agreement requires compliance with certain covenants

including the maintenance of specified net worth minimum consolidated total EBITDA debt to income ratio

and other financial ratios

The Second Agreement was amended on May 2008 effective March 31 2008 to revise certain financial

targets within these covenants Additionally we and the Bank agreed to consolidate the revolving line of credit with

the acquisition line of credit into single line of credit of $25000000 to be used by us for general corporate

purposes including potential acquisitions The Second Agreement was also amended on September 2008 on

account of the acquisition of Dental Art which increasedouroutstanding debt and therefore required an adjustment

to an affected financial covenant We further amended the agreement on December 16 2008 to extend the maturity

of the line of credit to November 2011 The amendment changed the interest rate on both the line of credit and the

term loan to prime rate or at our option LIBOR cost of funds rate or the Banks fixed rate plus in each case

range of 2.50% to 3.50% depending on the ratio of consolidated total funded debt to consolidated EBITDA as

each is defined in the Second Agreement and increased the commitment fee on the unused portion of the line of

credit from .125% to .50% In addition the amendment revised certain financial targets within the covenants

Finally on March 13 2009 we amended the Second Agreement to exclude the $6950000 goodwill impairment

discussed previously from the calculation of EBITDA used in determining our compliance with certain financial

covenants These amendments did not change the total availability under the Second Agreement

Prior to the consolidation of the credit lines $3800000 was borrowed under the acquisition line of credit This

amount represents cumulative payments of deferred laboratory purchase price obligations drawn from the revolving

line of credit since November 2006 when the loan agreement was amended and has been classified as long-term

debt Additionally $10000000 was borrowed under the consolidated revolving line of credit to fund the purchase

of Dental Art and has been classified as long-term debt
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As of December 31 2008 $8260000 was available under the consolidated revolving line of credit

Long-Term Obligations

December 31 2007 December 31 2008

Term note $29583000 $24583000

Borrowings classified as long term under the revolving line of

credit 13800000

Borrowings classified as short term under the revolving line of

credit 2940000

Other long-term debt 112000 875000

Total long-term debt 29695000 42198000

Less Current maturities 5064000 5115000

Long-term debt less current portion $24631000 $37083000

The table below reflects the expected repayment terms associated with the long-term debt at December 31

2008 The interest rate associated with the Companys borrowings as of December 31 2008 was 4.2%

December 31 2008

Principal Due

Fiscal 2009 5115000

Fiscal 2010 5083000

Fiscal 2011 31407000

Fiscal 2012 84000

Thereafter 509000

Total $42198000

Operating activities provided $13327000 in cash flow for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to

$12552000 during the year ended December 31 2007 an increase of $775000 Our working capital increased

from $6000000 at December 31 2007 to $9527000 at December 31 2008 The increase was primarily

attributable to the acquisition of Dental Art of $583000 net increases in cash on hand and decreases in current

bank debt of $1914000 decreases in accounts payable of $2467000 due to timing and decreases in accrued

liabilities of $412000 offset by decreases in prepaid expenses of $611000 primarily related to decreases in

prepaid income taxes due to timing differences in our payments decreases in inventory of $614000 resulting from

reduced work in
process and raw materials decreases in accounts receivable of $255000 decreases in current

deferred tax assets of $173000 and decreases in property held for sale of $190000 due to the sale of property

Investing activities consumed $20516000 in cash flow for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to

$9851000 during the year ended December 31 2007 an increase of $10665000 Cash outflows related to

payments for acquisitions including deferred purchase price payments associated with prior period dental

laboratory acquisitions totaled $11578000 for the year ended December 31 2008 primarily as result of the

acquisition of Dental Art compared to $2159000 for the year ended December 31 2007 Capital expenditures for

the year ended December 31 2008 were $7025000 including $4600000 of leasehold improvements and

laboratory equipment for new facilities Long-term notes receivable increased $2000000 pursuant to the execution

of an extension of the NTI-tss license agreement

Within financing activities net borrowings on credit lines decreased by $4811000 from $3204000 borrowed

for the year ended December 31 2007 to $1607000 repaid for the year ended December 31 2008 while amounts

due under the term facility declined $5000000 to $24583000 at December 31 2008 from $29583000 at

December 31 2007 as result of scheduled term loan repayments Long-term borrowings on the line of credit

related to the acquisition of Dental Art and deferred purchase price payments for other laboratories were

$13800000 in the year ended December 31 2008
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We believe that cash flow from operations and available financing will be sufficient to meet contemplated

operating and capital requirements such as those discussed below for the foreseeable future

Commitments and Contingencies

The following table represents list of our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31 2008

Payments Due By Period

Less Than Greater Than

Total Year Years Years Years

Term Loan Facility $24583000 5000000 $19583000

Line of Credit 16740000 16740000

Interest Expense 4531000 1596000 2816000 62000 57000

Capital Leases 876000 115000 168000 169000 424000

Operating Leases

Real Estate 22027000 3971000 7082000 5421000 5553000

Vehicles 749000 493000 256000

Equipment 260000 113000 124000 22000 1000

Construction Contracts 552000 552000

Laboratory Purchase

Obligations 300000 300000

TOTAL $70618000 $12140000 $46769000 $5674000 $6035000

Bank borrowings on the term loan facility with repayment terms greater than one year are classified as long-

term debt on the balance sheet Certain amounts borrowed for acquisitions on the line of credit have been classified

as long-term debt Interest expense payments included in the above table related to the term loan facility have been

projected using the interest rate associated with current borrowings which is 4.2%

We are committed under various non-cancelable operating lease agreements covering office space and dental

laboratory facilities vehicles and certain equipment Certain of these leases also require us to pay maintenance

repairs insurance and related taxes

Laboratory purchase obligations totaling $300000 classified as deferred acquisition costs are presented in the

liability section of the balance sheet These obligations including deferred obligations associated with non

competition agreements represent purchase price commitments arising from dental laboratory acquisitions

irrespective of the acquired laboratorys earnings performance
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Results of Operations

Our results are reported within three operating segments NDX Laboratories Green Dental and Keller The

following table sets forth for the periods indicated the percentage of net sales represented by certain items in our

Consolidated Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of goods sold 58.8 57.4 59.5

Gross profit 41.2 42.6 40.5

Selling general and administrative
expenses

33.4 34.3 34.2

Goodwill impairment 4A

Operating income 7.8 8.3 2.3

Other expense 0.5 0.5 0.4

Interest expense 1.0 1.6 1.3

Income before provision for income taxes 63 6.2 0.6

Provision for income taxes 2.5 2.3 1.1

Net income loss 3.8% 3.9% 0.5%

Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared with Year Ended December 31 2007

Net Sales

In 2008 competitive pressures from offshore laboratories that can produce crowns at fees lower than crowns

manufactured in the United States have limited our ability to raise our prices particularly during time when we

have experienced relatively higher costs for precious metals used in manufacturing In addition these competitive

pressures are partially responsible for declines in revenues or revenue growth in several marketplaces We also

believe that since the beginning of 2008 the recessionary environment in the United States impacted our revenues

and the revenues of the entire dental laboratory industry as price-sensitive consumers postpone elective dental

work The impact of the recession on our business was particularly noticeable in the fourth quarter of 2008

For the
year

ended December 31 2008 net sales increased $1314000 or 0.8% over year ended December 31
2007 Net sales increased by approximately $2665000 as result of the Dental Art acquisition in September 2008

Excluding the Dental Art acquisition net sales decreased approximately $1351000 for the full year ended

December 31 2008 as compared to 2007 Furthermore approximately $550000 of sales growth was attributable to

the effect of increased prices due to underlying increases in the prices of precious metals passed through to

customers The decline in sales for laboratories held more than one year was primarily attributable to decreased

patient demand particularly in the fourth quarter of 2008 as consumers started to delay certain dental work due to

economic uncertainties Excluding acquired sales from Dental Art sales declined $2112000 in the fourth quarter

of 2008 Sales growth in the fourth quarter of 2008 for Keller relative to their performance in the first nine months

of 2008 was flat at $84000 or 1.3% In the fourth quarter sales declined $89000 at Green and $2107000 at the

NDX Laboratories

Cost of Goods Sold

Our cost of goods sold increased by $4446000 or 4.5% in the year ended December 31 2008 over the year

ended December 31 2007 As percentage of sales cost of goods sold increased from 57.4% to 59.5% primarily

resulting from increases in labor and related benefits increases in laboratory overhead and rising materials costs

Greens labor costs of 28.2% of sales as compared to 28.8% in 2007 and Kellers labor costs of 22.6% of sales as

compared to 22.9% in 2007 lowered the overall percentage while the portion attributable to NDX Laboratories

increased to 37.6% of sales for the year ended December 31 2008 from 35.7% for the year ended December 31
2007 Included in the increase in the NDX Laboratories segment is reclassification of approximately $995000 in
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base pay increases related to modifications of the Laboratory Plan which is discussed above Laboratory overhead

increased $1250000 primarily as result of increased depreciation and rent for new facilities and increases in

technical training Excluding the acquisition of Dental Art production labor and related benefits increased by

approximately $1453000 for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007

The cost of raw materials as percentage of sales increased from 15.7% for the year ended December 31 2007

to 16.1% for the year ended December 31 2008 For most of 2008 the average cost of gold and palladium precious

metals components of many dental alloys was on the rise However by the end of 2008 due to decreased global

demand for palladium the average price of palladium was essentially unchanged while gold increased by

approximately 25% over average costs in the prior year Although we were able to pass majority of precious

metal cost increases on to our customers prolonged higher metal costs have had and likely will continue to have

negative impact on gross profit percentages

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Operating expenses net of goodwill impairment and consisting of selling delivery and administrative

expenses both at the laboratory and corporate level increased by $27000 for the year ended December 31

2008 compared to 2007 Operating expenses decreased as percentage of net sales from 34.4% in 2007 to 34.1% in

2008 As percentage of net sales delivery expenses increased from 9.2% in the year ended December 31 2007 to

9.6% in 2008 Selling expenses increased from 6.2% of sales for the year ended December31 2007 to 6.6% in 2008

Selling expenses in 2008 for the Keller segment were 15.1% of sales or $3914000 Laboratory incentive

compensation decreased from 2.3% of sales in 2007 to 0.3% in 2008 as the amount decreased by $3281000 from

$3872000 for the year ended December 31 2007 to $591000 in 2008

The net increase of $27000 in our operating expenses in 2008 was primarily attributable to the following

increases

Additional operating and amortization expense associated with the Dental Art acquisition $501000

Increases in delivery costs resulting primarily from cost increases in fuel and delivery services $694000

Increases in selling expenses including $271000 in increased marketing expense at Keller and $454000 in

increased sales compensation offset by decreases in customer rewards program expenses of $273000

$507000

Increases in administrative expenses at the laboratory level including $852000 in increased compensation

primarily resulting from increases to base pay of $485000 related to the change in the Laboratory Plan

offset by decreases to depreciation expense and losses on asset disposals of $189000 $758000

Increases in salaries and benefits at the corporate level $649000 and

Decrease of the cash surrender value of life insurance policies as result of market value declines net of

decreases in the related deferred compensation accruals for our supplemental executive retirement plans

$730000

partially offset by

Decreases in laboratory incentive compensation as result of the Laboratory Plan restructuring

$3281000

Decreases in executive incentive compensation accruals due to our financial results $400000 and

Decrease in amortization due to fully amortized non-compete agreements $193000

Goodwill Impairment

Our annual goodwill impairment assessment has historically been completed at the end of the second quarter

Based on our initial assessment for 2008 the fair value of our business units exceeded their carrying value and

therefore our goodwill was not impaired As economic conditions worsened in the fourth quarter and our business

performance and outlook was not as strong as anticipated at the end of the second quarter management determined
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that circumstances had changed enough to perform an additional goodwill impairment test as of December 31

2008 Based on our evaluation of goodwill we determined that the fair value of ten dental laboratories in the NDX
Laboratories operating segment was less than their carrying value resulting in goodwill impairment of $6950000

Operating Income

As result of the above factors our operating income decreased by $10108000 to $3952000 for the year

ended December 31 2008 from $14060000 in 2007 As percentage of net sales operating income decreased

from 8.3% in 2007 to 2.3% in 2008

Interest Expense

Due primarily to lower interest rates interest expense declined from $2803000 for 2007 to $2110000 for

2008 Approximately $180000 of interest expense was related to the borrowings that funded the acquisition of

Dental Art

Provision for Income Taxes

For the year
ended December 31 2008 the provision for income taxes decreased by $1888000 from

$3860000 for the year
ended December 31 2007 to $1972000 for the year ended December 31 2008 However

for the year ended December 31 2008 income before provision for income taxes was $1095000 and the effective

tax rate was therefore 180.1% The reason the tax provision exceeds income before provision for income taxes is

due to the tax impact of the impairment of goodwill Goodwill impairment recorded in the amount of $6950000

has an associated tax benefit of only $833000 as approximately 70% of the goodwill impairment charge is not

deductible for tax purposes Without the impact of goodwill impairment our tax provision would have resulted in an

effective tax rate of 34.9% which would have represented decrease from the 36.8% effective tax rate for the year

ended December 31 2007 The decrease in the effective tax rate before adjustment for goodwill impairment was

due in part to recognition of research and experimentation credits of $604000 offset by increases in the amount of

certain non-deductible expenses

Net Income

As result of all the factors discussed above particularly the goodwill impairment charge recorded in the

fourth quarter net income decreased $7503000 to $877000 or $0.16 per share on diluted basis for the year

ended December 31 2008 from $6626000 or $1.17 per share on diluted basis in 2007

Operating Segment Results

Our business consists of single industry segment which is the design fabrication marketing and sale of

custom dental prosthetic appliances for and to dentists in North America We report on three operating segments

within this single industry segment These three segments are known as Green Dental representing the operations

of Green Dental Laboratories Inc of Heber Springs Arkansas which we acquired in March 2005 Keller

representing the operations of Keller Group Incorporated with laboratories in St Louis Missouri and Louisville

Kentucky which we acquired in October 2006 and NDX Laboratories which represents our remaining labo

ratories including Dental Art which we acquired in September 2008
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Year Ended December 31

2007 2008 Change Change

Revenue

NDX Laboratories $127388588 $126240949 $1147639 0.9%

Green Dental 19859770 20724865 865095 4.4%

Keller 23843093 25987992 2144899 9.0%

Subtotal 171091451 172953806 1862355 1.1%

Less Inter-segment Revenues

NDX Laboratories 370913 438200 67287 18.1%

Green Dental 199525 369526 170001 85.2%

Keller 160384 471645 311261 194.1%

Net Sales $170360629 $171674435 1313806 0.8%

Laboratory Operating Income

NDX Laboratories 17572491 15059508 $2512983 14.3%

Green Dental 4665630 4795136 129506 2.8%

Keller 3228640 3660913 432273 13.4%

Laboratory Operating Income 25466761 23515557 $1951204 7.7%

NDX Laboratories

For the year ended December 31 2008 before elimination of inter-segment revenues sales in this segment

decreased by $1148000 or 0.9% Net of acquired sales of $2665000 from Dental Art sales decreased $3813000

or 3.0% for 2008 when compared with 2007 The decrease in sales in the fourth quarter accounted for $2107000 of

this amount Gross profit as percentage of sales decreased from 40.3% for the year ended December 31 2007 to

36.9% for the
year

ended December 31 2008 Cost of goods sold increased by $3244000 The increase was

primarily attributable to additional costs of $1549000 related to the acquisition of Dental Art increases in

manufacturing labor and benefits of approximately $1790000 resulting from increases to base pay of $995000

related to changes in the Laboratory Plan and increases in health insurance and other benefit costs of $380000

which were partially offset by lower labor costs resulting from labor force reductions Materials costs increased

approximately $242000 and laboratory overhead increased by approximately $1053000 resulting from depre

ciation and increased rent for new facilities

Laboratory operating income as percentage of sales for NDX Laboratories decreased from 13.9% for the year

ended December 31 2007 to 12.0% for the year ended December 31 2008 and declined by $2513000 or 14.3% as

result of the factors discussed above Goodwill impairment of $6950000 was recorded in the NDX Laboratories

operating segment but is not component of laboratory operating income

Green Dental Laboratory

Sales growth before elimination of inter-segment revenues for the year ended December 31 2008 in this

segment was $865000 or 4.4% Sales increased during the first nine months of 2008 however in the fourth quarter

sales declined $89000 As percentage of sales gross profit increased from 47.4% for the year ended December31

2007 to 47.6% for the
year

ended December 31 2008 Cost of goods sold increased by $420000 In addition to

temporary
increases in overtime of $72000 resulting primarily from training and implementation of new

production methods benefit costs increased $107000 primarily resulting from increases in the cost of providing

health insurance Materials costs increased $106000 for the
year

ended December 31 2008 as compared to the year

ended December 31 2007 Precious metals used declined as precious metal-based unit volume was down in favor of

zirconia-based CAD-CAM produced units Increased expenses
for implant parts porcelain and zirconia materials

resulted from this changing product mix Laboratory overhead increased by approximately $147000
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As result of the factors discussed above laboratory operating income as percentage of sales for Green was

essentially flat at 23.5% for the year ended December 312007 versus 23.1% for the
year ended December 312008

and increased by $130000

Keller Group

For the year ended December 31 2008 sales growth before elimination of inter-segment revenues in this

segment was $2145000 or 9.0% Sales growth in the fourth quarter of 2008 for Keller relative to their performance

in the first nine months of 2008 was flat at $84000 or 1.3% As percentage of sales gross profit increased from

51.0% for the
year

ended December 31 2007 to 52.0% for the year ended December 31 2008 primarily as result

of improved labor efficiency partially offset by increased materials cost including precious metals Delivery costs

increased by $483000 which primarily is the result of increased delivery service charges due to higher volume and

increased fuel costs As result delivery costs as percentage of sales rose to 11.8% during the year ended

December 31 2008 from 10.8% during the year ended December 31 2007 Advertising expense increased by

$271000 for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to 2007 due to increased marketing activities

As result of the factors discussed above laboratory operating income as percentage of sales for Keller

increased to 14.1% for the year ended December 31 2008 as compared to 13.5% for the year
ended December 31

2007 while increasing by $432000 due to higher sales volumes

Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared with Year Ended December 31 2006

Net Sales

For the year ended December 31 2007 net sales increased $20253000 or 13.5% over the prior year Net sales

increased by approximately $20756000 primarily as result of acquisitions measured by business at dental

laboratories owned less than one year Net sales decreased approximately $503000 at dental laboratories owned for

both the year ended December 31 2007 and the year ended December 31 2006 primarily as result of sales

declines in the NDX Laboratories operating segment Competitive pressures from offshore laboratories that can

produce crowns at fees lower than crowns manufactured in the United States continue to limit our ability to raise our

prices during time when we have experienced relatively higher costs for precious metals used in manufacturing In

addition these competitive pressures are partially responsible for declines in revenues or revenue growth in several

marketplaces

Cost of Goods Sold

Our cost of goods sold increased by $9469000 or 10.7% in the year ended December 31 2007 over the year

ended December 31 2006 As percentage of sales cost of goods sold decreased from 58.8% to 57.4% primarily

resulting from decreases in labor and related benefits partially offset by increases in materials expense and

laboratory overhead Excluding acquisitions production labor and related benefits decreased by approximately

$1881000 for the year
ended December 31 2007 compared to the

year
ended December 31 2006 primarily due to

reductions in our staffing levels at certain laboratories The cost of raw materials as percentage of sales increased

from 15.2% for the year ended December 31 2006 to 15.7% for the year ended December 31 2007 In 2007 the

average cost of precious metals used as components of many dental alloys including gold and palladium increased

by approximately 15.3% for gold and 10.6% for palladium over average costs in the prior year During the fourth

quarter of 2007 the average cost of gold increased by 31.9% over the average cost in the fourth quarter of 2006

Although we are able to pass portion of precious metal cost increases on to our customers prolonged higher metal

costs have had and likely will continue to have negative impact on gross profit percentages

Overall labor expense as percentage of sales for the year ended December 31 2007 improved over the year

ended December 31 2006 As percentage of sales production labor and related benefits declined from 35.5% in

2006 to 33.1% in 2007 Greens labor costs of 28.8% of sales and Kellers labor costs of 22.9% of sales lowered the

overall percentage while the portion attributable to NDX Laboratories decreased to 35.7% of sales for the year

ended December 31 2007 from 36.8% for the
year

ended December 31 2006
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Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Operating expenses which consist of selling delivery and administrative expenses both at the laboratory and

corporate level increased by $8465000 or 16.9% in the year ended December 31 2007 compared to 2006

Operating expenses
increased as percentage of net sales from 33.4% in 2006 to 34.3% in 2007 As percentage of

sales delivery expenses
increased from 8.9% in the year ended December 31 2006 to 9.2% in 2007 Selling

expenses
increased from 5.1% of sales for the year ended December 31 2006 to 6.2% in 2007 Selling expenses in

2007 for the Keller segment were 14.5% of sales or $3454000 Laboratory incentive compensation decreased

from 2.7% of sales in 2006 to 2.3% in 2007 while the amount decreased by $209000 from $4081000 for the
year

ended December 312006 to $3872000 in 2007 Executive incentive compensation expense increased by $298000

to $448000 for the
year

ended December 31 2007 from $150000 for the year ended December 31 2006 as result

of achievement of plan objectives

The increase of $8465000 in our operating expenses in 2007 was primarily attributable to the following

increases

Additional operating costs associated with recent acquisitions $7078000

Increases in salaries and benefits at the corporate level due to additional management staff net of related

reductions in consulting expense $895000

Increases in executive incentive compensation $298000

Increases in deferred compensation and post-retirement medical benefits net of increases in related cash

surrender value of life insurance policies $158000

Increases in delivery expenses excluding salaries and benefits $330000

Increases in selling expenses including $175000 in increased compensation $251000 and

Absence of gains on the sale of fixed assets in 2007 compared with the gain recorded in 2006 primarily

resulting from the sale of our former laboratory facility in Houston Texas $479000

partially offset by

Decreases in administrative and delivery salaries and benefits at the laboratory level $655000

Decreases in health insurance expense $137000 and

Decreases in laboratory incentive compensation $209000

Operating Income

As result of the above factors our operating income increased by $2319000 to $14060000 for the year

ended December 31 2007 from $11741000 in 2006 As percentage of net sales operating income increased from

7.8% in 2006 to 8.3% in 2007 primarily as result of improvements in
gross margin as result of reductions in

staffing levels

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $1280000 from $1523000 for the year ended December 31 2006 to $2803000

for 2007 primarily as result of our increased bank borrowings to fund our acquisition of Keller late in 2006

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes increased by $191000 to $3860000 for the year
ended December 31 2007

from $3669000 in 2006 The 36.8% effective tax rate estimated for fiscal year 2007 declined from the 38.9%

effective tax rate for 2006 The decrease in the effective tax rate for 2007 was due in part to recognition of lower

federal tax expense resulting from the domestic manufacturing tax credit provisions of the American Jobs Creation

Act of 2004
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Net Income

As result of all the factors discussed above net income increased $863000 to $6626000 or $1.17 per share

on diluted basis for the year ended December 31 2007 from $5763000 or $1.01 per share on diluted basis in

2006

Operating Segment Results

Our business consists of single industry segment which is the design fabrication marketing and sale of

custom dental prosthetic appliances for and to dentists in North America We report on three operating segments

within this single industry segment These three segments are known as Green Dental representing the operations

of Green Dental Laboratories Inc of Heber Springs Arkansas which we acquired in March 2005 Keller

representing the operations of Keller Group Incorporated with laboratories in St Louis Missouri and Louisville

Kentucky which we acquired in October 2006 and NDX Laboratories which represents our remaining labo

ratories including Impact Dental Laboratory Limited which we acquired in October 2006

Year Ended December 31

2006 2007 Change Change

Revenue

NDX Laboratories $126543054 $127388588 845534 0.7%

Green Dental 18817607 19859770 1042163 5.5%

Keller 4863988 23843093 18979105

Subtotal 150224649 171091451 20866802 13.9%

Less Inter-segment Revenues

NDX Laboratories 370913 370913

Green Dental 117242 199525 82283 70.2%

Keller 160384 160384

Net Sales $150107407 $170360629 $20253222 13.5%

Laboratory Operating Income

NDX Laboratories 16840606 17572491 731885 4.3%

Green Dental 4820007 4665630 154377 3.2%

Keller 446151 3228640 2782489

Laboratory Operating Income 22106764 25466761 3359997 15.2%

NDX Laboratories

For the year ended December 31 2007 sales growth in this segment of 0.4% consisted of 2.2% reduction in

same laboratory sales offset by 2.6% in sales growth attributable to the October 2006 acquisition of Impact The

reduction in internal sales resulted primarily from the loss of certain customers as we consolidated certain

laboratories and departments with the goal of improving long-term profitability Several laboratories in this

segment also experienced lower unit volumes as they were impacted by increased competitive pressures in the form

of low price competition

Gross profit as percentage of sales increased from 39.9% for the year ended December 31 2006 to 40.3% for

the
year

ended December 31 2007 Cost of goods sold decreased by $323000 The decrease was attributable to

decreases in manufacturing labor and benefits of approximately $2376000 primarily resulting from reductions in

staffing levels and associated decreases in health insurance costs and decreases in the cost of materials of

approximately $269000 offset by additional costs related to acquisitions of $1866000 and laboratory overhead

increases of approximately $457000 resulting from new facilities and higher energy costs

Laboratory operating income as percentage of sales for NDX Laboratories increased from 13.3% for the year

ended December 31 2006 to 13.9% for the year ended December 31 2007 as result of the factors discussed above
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Green Dental

For the year ended December 31 2007 internal sales growth in this segment was 5.1% As percentage of

sales gross profit decreased from 48.0% for the
year

ended December 31 2006 to 47.4% for the year ended

December 31 2007 primarily the result of increases in materials cost including precious metals Laboratory

operating income as percentage of sales for Green declined from 25.6% for the
year

ended December31 2006 and

to 23.5% for the
year

ended December 31 2007 The decline was primarily attributable to increased selling

expenses primarily compensation and lower property disposal gains

Keller

This segment resulted from our acquisition of Keller Group Inc effective October 2006 While sales growth

in the first nine months of 2007 was all attributable to the acquisition sales in the fourth quarter of 2007 grew by

26.6% over the fourth quarter of 2006 the first in which we owned Keller Keller operates with manufacturing

efficiencies but also is pursuing growth with significant spending in product advertising primarily in dental print

publications and direct mail As result while Keller returned lower net operating margins than our other operating

segments it has achieved significantly higher sales growth Laboratory operating income as percentage of sales

improved to 13.5% for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to 9.2% for the quarter ended December 31

2006 Gross profit as percentage of sales improved to 51.0% for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to

47.5% for the quarter ended December 31 2006

Critical Accounting Policies

Financial Reporting Release No 60 as released by the SEC requires all companies to include discussion of

critical accounting policies or methods used in the preparation of financial statements The preparation of our

consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of
expenses during the reporting period summary of certain of our

significant accounting policies is presented below

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of title and risk of loss generally as the dentists orders are shipped We

record shipping and handling fees charged to customers as revenues in accordance with EITF 00-10 Accounting for

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs Shipping and handling costs totaled approximately $13365000 in fiscal

2006 $15617000 in fiscal 2007 and $16463000 in fiscal 2008 and are included in selling general and

administrative expense

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets SFAS 142 goodwill amortization ceased on December 31 2001 We continually evaluate

whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate that the value of goodwill has been impaired In

accordance with SPAS No 142 goodwill is evaluated for possible impairment on an annual basis based on two-step

process Our annual goodwill impairment assessment has historically been completed at the end of the second quarter

Based on our initial assessment for 2008 the fair value of our business units exceeded their carrying value and therefore

our goodwill was not impaired As economic conditions worsened in the fourth quarter and our business performance

and outlook was not as strong as anticipated at the end of the second quarter management determined that circumstances

had changed enough to perform an additional goodwill impairment test as of December 31 2008

The goodwill impairment analysis is two-step process The first step is used to identify potential impairment

and involves comparing each reporting units estimated fair value to its carrying value including goodwill Fair

value is determined by using an income approach consistent with our valuation of dental laboratories acquired in

purchase business combinations We determine fair value based on the estimated future cash flows of each reporting

unit based on multiple of annual earnings Determining the fair value of reporting unit is judgmental in nature
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and requires the use of significant
estimates and assumptions including revenue growth rates and profit margin

percentages and future market conditions among others Our projections are based on an internal forecasts and

business review If the estimated fair value of reporting
unit exceeds its carrying value goodwill is not considered

to be impaired However if the carrying value exceeds estimated fair value there is an indication of potential

impairment and the second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment The analysis we completed for

December 31 2008 determined that the fair value of ten dental laboratories in the NDX Laboratories operating

segment was less than their carrying value

The second step of the goodwill impairment process
involves the calculation of an implied fair value of

goodwill for the laboratories which step one indicated were impaired The implied fair value of goodwill is

determined similar to how goodwill is calculated in business combination by measuring the excess of the

estimated fair value of the reporting
unit as calculated in step one over the estimated fair values of the individual

assets liabilities and identifiable intangibles as if the reporting unit was being acquired in business combination If

the carrying value of goodwill assigned to reporting
unit exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill an

impairment charge is recorded for the excess In determining the fair value of assets we utilize valuations of certain

intangible assets including trade names and customer relationships The carrying value of the goodwill assigned to

these laboratories exceeded the implied fair value of goodwill resulting in goodwill impairment of $6950000 As

of December 31 2008 we had $69384000 of goodwill remaining on our consolidated balance sheet

Additionally we also recognize the existence of value in trade names acquired in business combinations and

believe the useful life of this intangible to be indefinite Accordingly trade names are also evaluated for impairment

on an annual basis using single-step method in accordance with SFAS No 142 Impairment charges related to

trade names are recognized when the fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset Impairment charges of

$47000 $94000 and $44000 were recorded in the year ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

Trade name impairment charges generally result from decline in forecasted revenue at specific
laboratories in

comparison to revenue forecasts used in previous valuation calculations

Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

We follow the applicable accounting pronouncements specifically SFAS No 141 Business Combinations

and Emerging Issues Task Force Abstract 02-17 Recognition of Customer Relationship Intangible Assets

Acquired in Business Combination EITF 02-17 in accounting for purchase business combinations

Non-competition agreements and customer relationship intangibles arising from dental laboratory acquisitions

are amortized over their useful lives The acquisition date fair value of non-competition agreements are deferred and

amortized over their economic useful lives in accordance with the terms of the agreements ranging from to

15 years The acquisition date fair value associated with acquired customer relationships are amortized over their

estimated economic useful life ranging from to 12 years

Inventories

Inventories consisting principally of raw materials are stated at the lower of cost first-in first-out or market

We use estimates based on specific identification to maintain proper reserves for excess and obsolete inventory

Additionally we estimate work in process inventories by applying current labor materials and selected overhead

expense rates to standard production schedules We estimate the value of unrefined precious
metal scrap based on

the application of various return and refining statistics Finished goods inventory consists of completed orders that

were shipped to customers immediately subsequent to period end

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation
is calculated

using the straight-line method over the following estimated depreciable lives

Buildings
25 years

Furniture and fixtures
10 years

Laboratory equipment
20 years

Computer equipment
years
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Leasehold improvements and capital leases are amortized over the lesser of the assets estimated useful lives or

the lease terms

Gains and losses are recognized upon the disposal of property and equipment and the related accumulated

depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts Maintenance repairs and betterments that do not

enhance the value of or increase the life of the assets are charged to operations as incurred

Depreciation expense totaled approximately $3135000 in fiscal 2006 $4055000 in fiscal 2007 and

$4872000 in fiscal 2008

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

At each balance sheet date management evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets including property

and equipment and intangible assets using certain financial indicators such as historical and future ability to

generate income from operations Our policy is to assess whether an impairment exists in the period when it is

determined that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable The determination is based on an

evaluation of such factors as the occurrence of significant event significant change in the environment in which

the business operates or if the expected future cash flows become less than the carrying amount of the asset

Cash Surrender of Life Insurance

The cash surrender value of life insurance policies are recorded at net realizable value

Income Taxes

We follow SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes Under SFAS No 109 deferred tax assets and

liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial

statements or tax returns The amount of deferred tax asset or liability is based on the difference between the

financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the

differences are expected to reverse We have considered our current financial characteristics as well as current tax

law and do not believe that the recoverability of various tax assets and liabilities is impaired and therefore have

recorded them at their full value

We also follow FASB issued Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an

Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 FIN 48 prescribes recognition threshold and mea
surement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax position taken or expected to be

taken in tax return The minimum threshold is defined in FIN 48 as tax position that is more likely than not to be

sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority including resolution of any related appeals or

litigation processes based on the technical merits of the position The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as

the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement

Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 2008 we adopted SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SPAS 157 and

SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities SFAS 159 SFAS 157

defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value under GAAP and enhances disclosures about

fair value measurements Fair value is defined under SFAS 157 as the exchange price that would be received for an

asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date SFAS 157 establishes fair

value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs when measuring fair value The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to

measure fair value which are provided in the table below SPAS 159 allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect

fair value for the initial and subsequent measurement for certain financial assets and liabilities on contrac

t-by-contract basis The adoption of both SFAS 157 and SFAS 159 had no impact on our financial statements

In February 2008 the FASB issued FSP 157-2 that partially deferred the effective date of SFAS 157 for one

year for certain nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities and removed certain leasing transactions from the
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scope of SFAS 157 SFAS 157 as amended by this FSP is effective for nonfinancial assets and liabilities in fiscal

years beginning after November 15 2008 and will be applied prospectively The provisions of SFAS 157 are not

expected to have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

We use the market approach technique to value our financial instruments and there were no changes in

valuation techniques during the year ended December 31 2008 Our financial assets and liabilities are primarily

comprised of investments in insurance contracts held as assets to satisfy outstanding retirement liabilities

SFAS No 157 requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of the

following three categories

Level Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability

to access

Level Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data

such as quoted prices interest rates and yield curves

Level Inputs are unobservable data points that are not corroborated by market data

The following table presents information about our financial assets measured at fair value on recurring basis

as of December 31 2008 There were no liabilities that required disclosure

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant

As of December 31 Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

Description 2008 Level Level Level

Financial Assets

Cash Surrender Value of Life

Insurance $5479000 $5479000

Total Financial Assets $5479000 $5479000

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007 the FASB issued FAS No 141 Revised 2007 Business Combinations FAS 141R
FAS 141R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer in business combination recognizes and

measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities assumed and any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree The statement also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the

goodwill acquired in the business combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the

financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of business combinations FAS 14 1R is effective

on prospective basis for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after December 15 2008

Accordingly any business combination we enter into after December 31 2008 will be subject to this new standard

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our market risk
exposure

includes potential price volatility of commodities we use in our manufacturing

processes We purchase dental alloys that contain gold palladium and other precious metals We have not

participated in hedging transactions We have relied on pricing practices that attempt to pass some portion if not all

of our increased costs on to our customers in conjunction with materials substitution strategies Our market risk

exposure also includes investments in insurance contracts held as assets to satisfy outstanding retirement liabilities

portion of which are subject to market value fluctuations of the underlying investment

At December31 2008 we had variable rate debt of $41.3 million Based on this amount the earnings and cash

flows impact for the next year resulting from one percentage point increase in interest rates would be

approximately $264000 net of tax holding other variables constant

We have investments in foreign subsidiary The net assets of this subsidiary are exposed to volatility in

current exchange rates We have determined that the effect of 1% change in exchange rates would be immaterial to

our results of operations and financial position
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Item Financial Statements and Supplementaiy Data

Quarterly Results

The following table sets forth certain selected financial information for the eight fiscal quarters in our two most

recently completed fiscal years In our opinion this unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as

the audited financial information and includes all adjustments consisting of only normal recurring adjustments

necessary to present this information fairly when reviewed in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial

Statements and notes thereto contained herein

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31 March 31 June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31
2007 2007 2007 2007 2008 2008 2008 2008

Dollars in thousands except per share data

Net sales $43343 $44434 $41204 $41380 $43529 $44580 $42302 $41264

Gross profit $19060 $19560 $17491 $16510 $18210 $18665 $16552 $16062

Gross margin 44.0% 44.0% 42.4% 39.9% 41.8% 41.9% 39.1% 38.9%

Operating income loss 4520 4875 3036 $1630 $3389 3861 2183 5482

Operating margin 10.4% 11.0% 7.4% 3.9% 7.8% 8.7% 5.2% 13.3%

Net income loss 2244 2417 $1308 656 $1681 $1937 791 $5286

Net income loss per

diluted share 0.40 0.43 0.23 0.12 0.30 0.34 0.14 0.93

Our results of operations have historically fluctuated on quarterly basis and are expected to be subject to

quarterly fluctuations in the future As result we believe that the results of operations for the interim periods are

not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period or for full year Quarterly results are

subject to fluctuations resulting from number of factors including the number of working days in the quarter for

both dentists and our employees the number of paid vacation days and holidays in the period general economic

conditions and consumer spending patterns Historically the second quarter has generated the highest quarterly net

sales for the year and has been the most profitable for us due to the greater number of working days in the quarter

and more patients scheduling visits with their dentists before departing for summer vacation In addition in the

fourth quarter of 2008 we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $6950000

Location of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements furnished in connection with this Report are attached immediately

following Part IV

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial

officer of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2008 In designing and

evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures our management recognized that any controls and procedures no

matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and

our management necessarily applied its judgment in evaluation of the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls

and procedures Based on this evaluation our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded

that as of December 31 2008 our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e were effective to ensure that information required to be

disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act are recorded processed summarized

and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms and
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such information is accumulated and communicated to management including the CEO and CFO to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting

as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f Under the supervision and with the participation of our

management including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer we carried out an evaluation

of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com
mission COSO Based upon this evaluation our management concluded that our internal control over financial

reporting was effective as of December 31 2008

National Dentex Corporation acquired Dental Art on September 2008 Dental Art was acquired in

purchase business combination during 2008 and was excluded from managements assessment as of December 31

2008 Dental Art had total assets of $11959000 and revenues of $2665000 and these amounts were included in

the consolidated financial statements of National Dentex Corporation and subsidiaries as of and for the year ended

December 31 2008

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has also audited the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2008 as stated in their report which is included herein

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under

the Exchange Act occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31 2008 that has materially affected or is

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

Amendments to National Dentex Corporation Key Employee and Corporate Support Group Incentive

Compensation Plan

On March 10 2009 our Board of Directors amended the National Dentex Corporation Key Employee and

Corporate Support Group Incentive Compensation Plan the Plan The amendments apply to fiscal years 2009

and beyond Participants in the Plan which include the Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and certain

other named executive officers will earn incentive compensation based on the attainment of corporate earnings

targets expressed in terms of net income before taxes and may be adjusted for certain charges including goodwill

impairment charges Each participant is eligible to receive an annual standard bonus which ranges from 30% to

50% for the named executive officers The maximum bonus for which participant is eligible ranges from 50% to

200% of that
persons

annual standard bonus depending on the level of achievement of the performance targets If

performance targets are not satisfied the Plan allows for discretionary bonus of up to 25% of that persons annual

standard bonus The text of the Plan is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report and is incorporated herein by

reference

Amendment No to the Second Agreement

On March 13 2009 we entered into Amendment No the Amendment to that certain Second Amended

and Restated Loan Agreement dated November 2006 by and between Bank of America N.A National Dentex

Corporation and the subsidiaries listed therein the Second Agreement The Amendment amended the

definition of Consolidated EBITDA to exclude the effect of the non-cash goodwill impairment charge on

Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the Second Agreement taken in the fourth quarter of 2008 which is

described more fully in this Annual Report The Amendment was made effective as of December 30 2008 There

were no other material changes to the Second Agreement The text of the Amendment is filed as an exhibit to this

Annual Report and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item will be contained in our proxy statement for the annual meeting of

stockholders scheduled to be held on May 12 2009 which we plan to file with the SEC no later than 120 days after

the end of our fiscal year ended December 31 2008 the 2009 Proxy Statement Such information is hereby

incorporated by reference

We have adopted written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all our directors officers and

employees copy of which is located on the Investor Relations page of our website which is located at

www.nationaldentex.com We intend to disclose any amendments to or waivers from our code of business

conduct and ethics on that same page of our website

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be included in our 2009 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein

by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder

Matters

The information required by this item will be included in our 2009 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein

by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item will be included in our 2009 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein

by reference

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be included in our 2009 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein

by reference

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statements

For listing of consolidated financial statements which are included in this Report see page F-i

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules for which provision is made under Item 15a are inapplicable and therefore have been

omitted

Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits are filed as part of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference

Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits are filed as part of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference

Not Applicable
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of National Dentex Corporation

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of

income of shareholders equity and of cash flows present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

National Dentex Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 and the results of

their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion the

Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for

these financial statements for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment

of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Report on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on these

financial statements and on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements included

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements during the
year

ended December 31 2007 the

Company changed the manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iiiprovide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys
assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

As described in Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting management has

excluded Dental Art Laboratory from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31
2008 because it was acquired by the Company in purchase business combination during 2008 Dental Art

Laboratorys total assets represent $11959000 and total revenues represent $2665000 of the related consolidated

financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31 2008

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston MA
March 16 2009
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NATIONAL DENTEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 December 31
2007 2008

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1689391 2109943

Accounts receivable

Trade less allowance of $359000 in 2007 and $492000 in 2008 16073716 16701139

Other 2484821 2527168

Inventories 7354062 6991385

Prepaid expenses 4298891 3688057

Deferred tax asset 964892 931919

Property held for sale 259000 69822

Total current assets 33124773 33019433

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings 7835015 7535015

Leasehold and building improvements 16202649 18890911

Laboratory equipment 21327055 22503086

Furniture and fixtures 7789754 8721724

53154473 57650736

Less Accumulated depreciation and amortization 22279229 24213721

Net property plant and equipment 30875244 33437015

OTHER ASSETS net

Goodwill 68987397 69384320

Trade names 8998123 9977917

Customer relationships 5575194 6210176

Non-competition agreements 1743867 1583895

Other assets 6334545 7902147

Total other assets 91639126 95058455

Total assets $155639143 $161514903

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Revolving line of credit 4547101 2939978

Current portion of long-term debt 5064174 5115032

Accounts payable 5810303 3541996

Accrued liabilities

Payroll and employee benefits 6545770 7574971

Current portion of deferred acquisition costs 1278861 300000

Other accrued expenses 3878207 4019992

Total current liabilities 27124416 23491969

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term obligations 24630801 34142891

Deferred compensation 5593067 6114609

Other accrued expenses 961453 1419561
Deferred tax liability 6137143 5853821

Total long-term liabilities 37322464 47530882

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Note
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Preferred stock $.0l par value

Authorized 500000 shares

None issued and outstanding

Common stock $01 par value

Authorized 8000000 shares

Issued and Outstanding 5582119 shares at December 31 2007 and 5663749 shares at

December 31 2008 55821 56637

Paid-in capital 18501175 19522536

Retained earnings 72189938 71312895

Other comprehensive income loss 445329 400016

Total stockholders equity 91192263 90492052

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $155639143 $161514903

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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NATIONAL DENTEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2007 2008

Net sales $150107407 $170360629 $171674435

Cost of goods sold 88269509 97738785 102184879

Gross profit 61837898 72621844 69489556

Selling general and administrative expenses 50096653 58561368 58587890

Goodwill impairment 6950000

Operating income 11741245 14060476 3951666

Other expense 786292 771660 746633

Interest expense 1522778 2802944 2110113

Income before provision for income taxes 9432175 10485872 1094920

Provision for income taxes 3669116 3860213 1971963

Net income loss 5763059 6625659 877043

Net income loss per sharebasic 1.05 1.20 0.16

Net income loss per
share diluted 1.01 1.17 0.16

Weighted average shares outstanding basic 5484741 5540496 5631450

Weighted average
shares outstanding diluted 5732106 5665042 5631450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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NATIONAL DENTEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock Cumulative

Number of $.O1 Par Paid-in Retained Translation

Shares Value Capital Earnings Adjustment Total

BALANCE December 31 2005 5411463 $54114 $15603188 $60416779 $76074081

Cumulative effect of SAB 108

adjustment see Note 615559 615559

Issuance of 71567 shares of common

stock under the stock option plans 71567 716 939227 939943

Issuance of 25318 shares of common
stock under the employee stock

purchase program 25318 253 432377 432630

Tax benefit associated with exercise of

stock options 96105 96105

Net income 5763059 5763059

Issuance of 1064 shares of common

stock as directors fees 1064 11 23983 23994

Stock compensation expense 201290 201290

Cumulative translation adjustment 121911 121911

BALANCE December 31 2006 5509412 55094 17296170 65564279 121911 82793632

Issuance of 42450 shares of common
stock under the stock option plans 42450 425 567407 567832

Issuance of 24030 shares of common
stock under the employee stock

purchase program 24030 240 295325 295565

Tax benefit associated with exercise of

stock options 15859 15859

Net income 6625659 6625659

Issuance of 6227 shares of common

stock as directors fees 6227 62 165302 165364

Stockcompensation expense 161112 161112

Cumulative translation adjustment ________ _______ __________ __________
567240 567240

BALANCE December 31 2007 5582119 55821 18501175 72189938 445329 91192263

Issuance of 12000 shares of common
stock under the stock option plans 20250 202 188799 189001

Issuance of 33375 shares of common
stock under the employee stock

purchase program 33375 334 371308 371642

Tax benefit associated with exercise of

stock options 12037 12037

Net loss 877043 877043

Issuance of 28005 shares of common

stock as directors fees 28005 280 269720 270000

Stock compensation expense 179497 179497

Cumulative translation adjustment _________ _______ ___________ ___________
845345 845345

BALANCE December 31 2008 5663749 $56637 $19522536 $71312895 $400016 $90492052

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

F-S



NATIONAL DENTEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities net of effects of acquisitions

Depreciation and amortization

Goodwill impairment

Loss gain on disposal of property plant and equipment

Benefit for deferred income taxes

Impairment of long-lived assets

Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options

Provision for bad debts

Losses on write-down of inventories

Stock-based compensation expense
Other non-cash items

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions

Increase in accounts receivable

Increase decrease in inventories

Decrease increase in prepaid expenses

Decrease increase in other assets

Increase decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities
___________

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for acquisitions net of cash acquired

Payment of deferred purchase price

Increase in notes receivable

Premiums paid for life insurance policies

Proceeds received from life insurance policies

Additions to property plant and equipment

Cash proceeds from the disposition of property plant and equipment
___________

Net cash used in investing activities
___________

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings of revolving line of credit

Repayments of revolving line of credit

Borrowings of long-term debt

Repayments of long-term debt

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock

Net cash provided used by financing activities
___________

Effect of Exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
___________

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Interest paid net of capitalized interest of $18000 in 2006 $37000 in 2007

and $26000 in 2008
___________

Income taxes paid

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities

Capital lease obligations

The Company purchased the operations of certain dental laboratories in 2006

and 2008 In connection with these acquisitions liabilities were assumed as

follows

Fair value of assets acquired including acquired cash

Cash purchase price

Deferred purchase price at date of acquisition

Liabilities assumed

Years Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2007 2008

5763059 6625659 877043

4814580 5338432 6011564

6950000

2792
1099572

44000

12037

148068

219255

449498

329215
1379347

207847

96105

30702

162711

225284

117870

150109

265149
94000

15859

151330

107791

326477

489375

479582
250830

1269889

3660

1071767

11088760

701142 5886
226117 355532

2363317 586798

19635 616081

2828757 80844

12552429 13326696

21402927 10000000
3205241 2158880 1577720

2000000
519050 386621 324505

20194 46700 87734

4899460 7535578 7024076
920333 183373 322589

29086151 9851006 20515978

1343228 55370014 55555496

52166141 57162619
19625000 13800000

4092355 5775105 5109985
1372573 863396 560644

18248446 1707836 7643536

4041 47539 33702

247014 1041126 420552

401251 648265 1689391

648265 1689391 2109943

1647972 2853706 2211714

4468811 5792166 3156077

881000

28821000 11959000

21725000 10112000
967000

6129000 1847000
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NATIONAL DENTEX CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2008

Organization

National Dentex Corporation the Company owns and operates 41 full-service dental laboratories and five

branch laboratories in 30 states throughout the United States and one Canadian province as of December 31 2008

Working from dentists work orders the Companys dental laboratories custom design and fabricate dentures

crowns and fixed bridges and other dental prosthetic appliances

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The Company follows the guidance established in FASB Interpretation No 46 Consolidation of Variable

Interest Entities in presenting the consolidated financial statements Acquisitions are reflected from the date

acquired by the Company see Note to December 31 2008 All significant inter-company balances and

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of title and risk of loss generally as the dentists orders are shipped The

Company records shipping and handling fees charged to customers as revenues in accordance with EITF 00-10

Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs Shipping and handling costs totaling approximately

$13365000 $15617000 and $16463000 for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

are included in selling general and administrative expense

Staff Accounting Bulletin No 108

In September 2006 the SEC released SAB 108 Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When

Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements SAB 108 SAB 108 permits the Company to

adjust for the cumulative effect of misstatements related to prior years previously deemed to be immaterial in the

carrying amount of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of the current fiscal year with an offsetting adjustment

to the opening balance of retained earnings in the
year

of adoption SAB 108 also requires the adjustment of any

prior quarterly financial statements in future SEC filings within the fiscal year of adoption for the effects of such

misstatements on the quarters when the information is next presented This adjustment does not require reports

previously filed with the SEC to be amended In addition registrants are permitted to utilize SAB 108 treatment for

errors that had not been previously identified in prior periods

In the fourth quarter of 2006 management identified an error in the accounting for the Companys Supple

mental Executive Retirement Plans component of these plans is the recognition of compensation expense for the

eventual payment to the recipient of the retirement benefit Historically the Company had recognized this expense

over the period between the inception of the individual agreement to the recipients anticipated retirement date and

not over the vesting period which vary up to maximum of ten years Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

GAAP requires compensation expense for these arrangements to be recognized over the vesting period The

Company reviewed all agreements and recalculated the correct deferred compensation expense for all affected

years specifically 1995 through 2006 and compared the results to amounts historically recorded Based upon that

review the Company concluded the errors to be immaterial to all previously issued financial statements under the

rollover method the method previously utilized by the Company to evaluate accounting errors However the

impact of correcting the accumulated error to the 2006 financial statements was material Accordingly the

Company has applied SAB 108 and adjusted beginning retained earnings for fiscal 2006 net of the related tax

effects in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
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As result of the error described above at January 2006 deferred compensation liabilities were increased by

$1018000 and the Companys deferred tax asset was increased by $402000 which resulted in net decrease to

stockholders equity of $616000

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 142 goodwill amortization

ceased on December 31 2001 The Company continually evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred

that indicate that the value of goodwill has been impaired In accordance with SFAS No 142 goodwill is evaluated for

possible impairment on an annual basis based on two-step process The Companys annual goodwill impairment

assessment has historically been completed at the end of the second quarter Based on the Companys initial

assessment for 2008 the fair value of its business units exceeded their canying value and therefore its goodwill was

not impaired As economic conditions worsened in the fourth quarter and the Companys business performance and

outlook was not as strong as anticipated at the end of the fourth quarter management determined that circumstances

had changed enough to perform an additional goodwill impairment test as of December 31 2008

In accordance with SFAS No 142 the reporting unit is an operating segment or one level below an operating

segment referred to as component The Company has determined that the individual laboratories are reporting

units The goodwill impairment analysis is two-step process The first step is used to identify potential impairment

and involves comparing each reporting units estimated fair value to its carrying value including goodwill The

second step of the goodwill impairment process involves the calculation of an implied fair value of goodwill for the

laboratories which step one indicated were impaired The Companys analysis resulted in the determination that the

fair value of ten dental laboratories in the NDX Laboratories operating segment was less than their carrying value

resulting in goodwill impairment of $6950000 Refer to Footnote Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets for

additional details

Additionally the Company also recognizes the existence of value in trade names acquired in business

combinations and believes the useful life of this intangible to be indefinite based on long history of utilizing the

laboratory trade name Accordingly trade names are also evaluated for impairment on an annual basis using single

step method in accordance with SFAS No 142 Impairment charges related to trade names are recognized when the

fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset Impairment charges related to trade names were recorded in the

amount of $47000 $94000 and $44000 for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

Trade name impairment charges generally result from decline in forecasted revenue at specific laboratories in

comparison to revenue forecasts used in previous valuation calculations

Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

The Company follows the applicable accounting pronouncements specifically SFAS No 141 Business

Combinations and Emerging Issues Task Force Abstract 02-17 Recognition of Customer Relationship Intangible

Assets Acquired in Business Combination in accounting for purchase business combinations Non-competition

agreements and customer relationship intangibles arising from dental laboratory acquisitions are amortized over

their useful lives The acquisition date fair value of non-competition agreements are deferred and amortized over

their economic useful lives in accordance with the terms of the agreements over to 15 years The acquisition date

fair value associated with acquired customer relationships are amortized over their estimated useful life generally

ranging over to 12 years

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising promotional and marketing costs are charged to earnings in the period in which they are incurred

in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position SOP 93-7 Reporting on Advertising Costs These costs were

approximately $1512000 $2625000 and $2773000 for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008

respectively
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with maturities of 90 days or less to be cash

equivalents At certain times the Company may have cash investments including overnight repurchase agreements

with financial institutions in excess of the $250000 insured limit of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount Service charges are assessed on balances

60 days past due The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Companys best estimate of the amount of probable

credit losses in its existing accounts receivable The Company determines the allowance based on historical write

off experience Past due balances over 90 days and over specified amount are also reviewed individually for

collectability Account balances are charged off against the allowance when the Company determines it is probable

the receivable will not be recovered The Company does not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its

customers

Receivables consist of the following at December 31 2007 and 2008

2007 2008

Trade $16432268 $17193121

Allowance for doubtful accounts 358552 491982

Employee 85850 298893

Income Taxes 1618647 1400548

Other 780324 827727

Total Receivables $18558537 $19228307

Following are the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended December 31 2006

2007 and 2008

Balance at Charged to Acquired in Balance at

Beginning Costs and Purchase Business End of

of Period Expenses Write-offs Combinations Period

Allowance for Doubtful

Accounts

December 31 2006 299781 30702 94224 53733 289992

December 31 2007 289992 151330 82770 358552

December 31 2008 358552 148069 84639 70000 491982

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following

December 31 2007 December 31 2008

Raw Materials $5941931 $5783468

Work in Process 1160686 985278

Finished Goods 251445 222639

$7354062 $6991385

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost first-in first-out or market Work in process represents an estimate

of the value of specific orders in production yet incomplete at period end Finished goods consist of completed

orders that were shipped to customers immediately subsequent to period end
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Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation is calculated

using the straight-line method over the following estimated depreciable lives

Buildings 25 years

Furniture and fixtures 10 years

Laboratory equipment 20 years

Computer equipment years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the assets estimated useful lives or the lease terms

Gains and losses are recognized upon the disposal of property and equipment and the related accumulated

depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts Maintenance repairs and betterments that do not

enhance the value of or increase the life of the assets are charged to operations as incurred The Company follows

SFAS No 34 Capitalization of Interest Cost SFAS No 34 Under SFAS No 34 interest costs if incurred

should be capitalized as part of the cost of acquiring or constructing qualifying assets The Company had two

qualifying assets which required period of time to make ready for their intended use Capitalized interest which is

classified as Leasehold and Building Improvements totaled approximately $18000 $37000 and $26000 for the

years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

Depreciation expense totaled approximately $3135000 $4055000 and $4872000 for the years ended

December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

At each balance sheet date management evaluates the recoverability of the long-lived assets including

property and equipment and intangible assets using certain financial indicators such as historical and future ability

to generate income from operations The Companys policy is to assess long-lived asset impairment in the period

when it is determined that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable The determination is based on an

evaluation of such factors as the occurrence of significant event significant change in the environment in which

the business operates or if the expected future undiscounted cash flows become less than the carrying amount of the

asset

Cash Surrender of Life Insurance

Life insurance policies which are presented as other assets are recorded at their net realizable value which

approximates the surrender value of the policy

Income Taxes

The Company follows SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes Under SFAS No 109 deferred tax

assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in

the financial statements or tax returns The amount of deferred tax asset or liability is based on the difference

between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in

which the differences are expected to reverse

The Company also follows FASB issued Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-

an Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 FIN 48 prescribes recognition threshold and

measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax position taken or expected

to be taken in tax return The minimum threshold is defined in FIN 48 as tax position that is more likely than not

to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority including resolution of any related appeals or

litigation processes based on the technical merits of the position The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as

the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement
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Earnings per Share

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of SFAS No 128 Earnings per Share basic earnings per

share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding and diluted

earnings per share reflects the dilutive effect of potential common shares The weighted average number of shares

outstanding the dilutive effects of outstanding stock options and the shares under option plans that were anti-

dilutive for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

Weighted average number of shares used in basic earnings per

share calculation 5484741 5540496 5631450

Incremental shares under option and employee stock purchase

plans 247365 124546

Weighted average
number of shares used in diluted earnings

per share calculation 5732106 5665042 5631450

Shares under option plans excluded in computation of diluted

earnings per share due to anti-dilutive effects 1927 1215 591486

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those

estimates

Disclosures about the Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments mainly consist of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable

accounts payable and current and long-term liabilities The carrying amounts of the Companys cash and cash

equivalents accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of

these instruments The carrying amount of the long-term liabilities also approximates their fair value based on rates

available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities

Comprehensive Income

SFAS No 130 Reporting Comprehensive Income requires disclosure of all components of comprehensive

income on an annual and interim basis Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of business

enterprise during period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources The

Companys total comprehensive income was as follows for the periods presented

Year Ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

Net income loss $5763059 $6625659 877043

Foreign currency translation adjustments 121911 567240 845345

Total comprehensive income loss $5641148 $7192899 $1722388

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss at December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 of $121911

$445329 and $400016 respectively as presented in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheet is

entirely attributable to accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments
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Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise

SFAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information establishes standards

for reporting information regarding operating segments in annual financial statements and requires selected

information for those segments to be presented in interim financial reports issued to stockholders SFAS No 131

also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services and geographic areas Operating

segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available for

the evaluation by the chief operating decision maker or decision-making group in making decisions how to

allocate resources and assess performance

In March 2005 the Company acquired Green Dental Laboratories Inc of Heber Springs Arkansas In October

2006 the Company acquired Keller Group Incorporated privately-held dental laboratory business with pro

duction facilities in both St Louis Missouri and Louisville Kentucky In accordance with SFAS 131 the Company

identified Green and Keller as separate operating segments that do not meet the aggregation criteria of SFAS 131

As result the Company has three reportable segments The accounting policies of these segments are consistent

with those described for the consolidated financial statements in the summary of significant accounting policies

Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 2008 the Company adopted SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 and

SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities SFAS 159 SFAS 157

defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value under GAAP and enhances disclosures about

fair value measurements Fair value is defined under SFAS 157 as the exchange price that would be received for an

asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date SFAS 157 establishes fair

value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs when measuring fair value The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to

measure fair value which are provided in the table below SFAS 159 allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect

fair value for the initial and subsequent measurement for certain financial assets and liabilities on contrac

t-by-contract basis The adoption of both SFAS 157 and SFAS 159 had no impact on the Companys financial

statements

In February 2008 the FASB issued FSP 157-2 that partially deferred the effective date of SFAS 157 for one

year
for certain nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities and removed certain leasing transactions from the

scope of SFAS 157 SFAS 157 as amended by this FSP is effective for nonfinancial assets and liabilities in fiscal

years beginning after November 15 2008 and will be applied prospectively The provisions of SFAS 157 are not

expected to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

The Company uses the market approach technique to value its financial instruments and there were no changes

in valuation techniques during the year ended December 31 2008 The Companys financial assets and liabilities

are primarily comprised of investments in insurance contracts held as assets to satisfy outstanding retirement

liabilities

SFAS No 157 requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of the

following three categories

Level Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has

the ability to access

Level Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data

such as quoted prices interest rates and yield curves

Level Inputs are unobservable data points that are not corroborated by market data
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The following table presents information about the Companys financial assets measured at fair value on

recurring basis as of December 31 2008 There were no liabilities that required disclOsure

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant

As of Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable
Description December 31 2008 Level Level Inputs Level

Financial Assets

Cash Surrender Value of

Life Insurance $5479000 $5479000

Total Financial Assets $5479000 $5479000

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007 the FASB issued FAS No 141 Revised 2007 Business Combinations FAS 141R
FAS 14 1R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer in business combination recognizes and

measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities assumed and any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree The statement also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the

goodwill acquired in the business combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the

financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of business combinations FAS 141R is effective

on prospective basis for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008

Accordingly any business combination the Company enters into after December 31 2008 will be subject to this

new standard

Acquisitions

The Companys acquisition strategy is to consolidate within the dental laboratory industry and use its financial

and operational synergies to create competitive advantage Certain factors such as the laboratorys assembled

workforce technical skills and value as going concern result in the recognition of goodwill

In connection with certain acquisition agreements the Company has incurred certain contractual obligations

associated with deferred purchase price payments which are not contingent on any future actions or performance

measures These deferred payments are recorded as liability upon consummation of the acquisition and are

included in the acquisition purchase price Also certain acquisition agreements contain provisions which require

additional purchase price payments contingent upon certain specified events generally earnings targets These

contingent payments are recorded as an increase to goodwill upon the resolution of the contingency

In addition in certain transactions the Company executes non-compete agreements with the former owners

and other key employees The fair value of these agreements is recognized in purchase accounting as an identifiable

intangible asset and is amortized over the estimated economic life of the agreement All acquisitions have been

reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition and have been

accounted for as purchase business combinations in accordance with SFAS No 141 Business Combinations

FAS 141 Purchase price is allocated to acquired assets and liabilities based on estimates of their related fair

values Subsequent to the purchase date the Company continues to evaluate the initial purchase price allocations for

the acquisitions and will adjust the allocations as additional information about the fair market values of the assets

and liabilities of the businesses previously identified becomes known These purchase price adjustments can occur

for up to one year
from the acquisition date

During 2008 the Company acquired the following dental laboratory operations

Acquisition Form of Acquisition Location Period Acquired

Dental Art Laboratories Inc All Outstanding Capital Stock Lansing MI September 2008
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Dental Art reported sales in excess of $7500000 in 2007 The cost of the acquisition of Dental Art net of cash

acquired was approximately $10000000

The total purchase price has been allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities based on estimates of their

related fair values The total purchase price was allocated as follows as of December 31 2008

Dental Art Laboratories Inc ____________

Total Purchase Price

Less Fair Market Values Assigned to Tangible Assets and Liabilities

Cash

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Property plant and equipment

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities and other

Less Fair Market Values Assigned to Intangible Assets

Customer relationships

Trade names

Non-compete agreements __________

Goodwill
__________

Acquired goodwill in certain situations may be tax deductible over fifteen-year period as allowed under

Internal Revenue Service Code Section 197 However acquired goodwill for Dental Art is not tax deductible

The following unaudited pro forma operating results of the Company assume the Dental Art acquisition had

been made as of January 2007 Such information includes adjustments to reflect additional depreciation non-

compete and customer relationship amortization and interest expense and is not necessarily indicative of what the

results of operations would actually have been or of the results of operations in future periods

Years Ended

December 31 2007 December 31 2008

Net sales $178140000 $176858000

Net income loss 7324000 413000

Net income loss per share

Basic

Diluted

Total

Acquired

$10112000

112000

883000

252000

332000

140000

192000

1655000

1500000

1100000

150000

7490000

1.32 0.07

1.29 0.07
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the
years

ended December 31 2007 and 2008 are as

follows

Years Ended

December 31 2007 December 31 2008

Balance as of January $68001000 $68987000

Goodwill acquired during the year
7490000

Goodwill impairment 6950000

Adjustments related to contingent consideration 667000 300000

Adjustments related to the finalization of preliminary purchase

estimates 31000

Effects of exchange rate changes 350000 443000

Balance as of December 31 $68987000 $69384000

All changes in the consolidated goodwill balance for 2007 and 2008 as summarized in the above table relate to

the NDX Laboratories reportable segment For the years ended December 31 2007 and 2008 the goodwill balances

for the Companys operating segments are as follows

Years Ended

December 31 2007 December 31 2008

NDX Laboratories $37636000 $38033000

Green Dental Laboratory 15208000 15208000

Keller Group 16143000 16143000

Total $68987000 $69384000

The Companys contingent laboratory purchase price liabilities are subject to acquisition agreements that are

tied to earnings performance generally over three year period as defined in the purchase agreements As the

contingency is resolved the payments are recorded as goodwill In connection with dental laboratory acquisitions

the Company has identified certain other intangible assets including trade names customer relationships and non-

competition agreements

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 142 goodwill amortization

ceased on December 31 2001 The Company continually evaluates whether events and circumstances have

occurred that indicate that the value of goodwill has been impaired In accordance with SFAS No 142 goodwill is

evaluated for possible impairment on an annual basis based on two-step process In accordance with

SFAS No 142 the reporting unit is an operation segment or one level below an operating segment referred to

as component The Company has determined that the individual laboratories are reporting units The Companys

annual goodwill impairment assessment has historically been completed at the end of the second quarter Based on

the Companys initial assessment for 2008 the fair value of its business units exceeded their carrying value and

therefore the Companys goodwill was not impaired As economic conditions worsened in the fourth quarter and the

Companys business performance and outlook was not as strong as anticipated at the end of the second quarter

management determined that circumstances had changed enough to perform an additional goodwill impairment test

as of December 31 2008

The goodwill impairment analysis is two-step process The first step is used to identify potential impairment

and involves comparing each reporting units estimated fair value to its carrying value including goodwill Fair

value is determined by using an income approach consistent with the Companys valuation of dental laboratories

acquired in purchase business combinations The Company determines fair value based on the estimated future cash

flows of each reporting unit based on multiple of annual earnings Determining the fair value of reporting unit is
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judgmental in nature and requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions including revenue growth rates

and profit margin percentages and future market conditions among others The Companys projections are based

on an internal forecasts and business review If the estimated fair value of reporting unit exceeds its carrying

value goodwill is not considered to be impaired However if the carrying value exceeds estimated fair value there

is an indication of potential impainnent and the second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment The

analysis the Company completed for December 31 2008 determined that the fair value of ten dental laboratories in

the NDX Laboratories operating segment was less than their carrying value

The second step of the goodwill impairment process involves the calculation of an implied fair value of

goodwill for the laboratories which step one indicated were impaired The implied fair value of goodwill is

determined similar to how goodwill is calculated in business combination by measuring the excess of the

estimated fair value of the reporting unit as calculated in step one over the estimated fair values of the individual

assets liabilities and identifiable intangibles as if the reporting unit was being acquired in business combination If

the carrying value of goodwill assigned to reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill an

impairment charge is recorded for the excess In determining the fair value of assets the Company utilizes valuations

of certain intangible assets including trade names and customer relationships The carrying value of the goodwill

assigned to these laboratories exceeded the implied fair value of goodwill resulting in goodwill impairment of

$6950000 As of December 31 2008 the Company had $69384000 of goodwill remaining on its consolidated

balance sheet

Trade Names

Trade names as acquired are valued using quantification of the income generated based on the recognition

afforded by the trade name in the marketplace using the relief-from-royalty valuation approach Company practice

is to use existing and acquired trade names in perpetuity and consequently they have been treated as indefinite-lived

intangibles While these assets are not subject to amortization they are tested for impairment on an annual basis in

accordance with SFAS No 142 The Company uses the relief-from-royalty valuation approach at each fiscal year

end to determine the value of the asset Trade name impairment charges resulted from decline in forecasted

revenue at specific laboratories in comparison to revenue forecasts used in previous valuation calculations The

Company recorded impairment charges of $94000 and $44000 in the fourth quarter of 2007 and 2008 respectively

Impairment charges are component of selling general and administrative expense

The changes in the carrying amount of trade names for the
years ended December 31 2007 and 2008 are as

follows

Years Ended

December 31 2007 December 31 2008

Beginning of
year $9032000 8998000

Trade names acquired during the year 1100000

Effects of exchange rate changes 60000 76000

Trade names 9092000 10022000

Less Charged to impairment expense 94000 44000

Trade names end of year $8998000 9978000

Customer Relationships

Acquired dental laboratories have customer relationships in place with dentists within their market areas

Based on the criteria of EITF 02-17 the Company recognizes customer relationship assets when established

relationships exist with customers through contract or other contractual relationships such as purchase orders or

sales orders Customer relationships are valued based on an analysis of revenue and customer attrition data and

amortized over their useful life The weighted-average amortization period for acquisitions completed both in 2006
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and 2008 was 12.0 years The amounts assigned to customer relationships are amortized on straight-line basis over

their useful lives The Company has determined that the straight-line method is appropriate based on an analysis of

customer attrition statistics

Years Ended

December 31 2007 December 31 2008

Beginning of year 7945000 7993000

Customer relationships acquired during the year 1500000

Effects of exchange rate changes 48000 54000

Customer relationships gross 7993000 9439000

Less Accumulated amortization 2418000 3229000

Customer relationships net end of year 5575000 6210000

Amortization expense associated with customer relationships totaled approximately $702000 $771000 and

$811000 for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively and is recorded as operating

expenses Future amortization expense of the current customer relationship balance will be approximately

2009 891000

2010 891000

2011 891000

2012 821000

2013 610000

Thereafter 2106000

$6210000

Non-competition Agreements

In connection with acquisitions the Company has executed non-compete agreements with certain individuals

ranging over periods of to 15 years The weighted-average amortization period which is based on the estimated

useful life of the agreement for acquisitions completed in 2006 and 2008 was 9.5 years and 7.5 years respectively

The amounts assigned to non-competition agreements are amortized on straight-line basis over the economic

useful life of the agreement and are recorded as operating expenses

Years Ended

December 31 December 31
2007 2008

Beginning of
year $10546000 $10553000

Non-competition agreements acquired during the year 150000

Non-competition agreements gross 10546000 10703000

Less Accumulated amortization 8809000 9112000

Effects of exchange rate changes 7000 7000

Non-competition agreements net 1744000 1584000

Amortization expense associated with non-competition agreements totaled approximately $939000

$489000 and $303000 for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively
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Future amortization expense of non-competition agreements will be approximately

2009
295000

2010
286000

2011
246000

2012
192000

2013
170000

Thereafter 395000

$1584000

Income Taxes

The following is summary of the provision benefit for income taxes

Years Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2007 2008

Federal

Current 4229525 $2985255 $2134884
Deferred 1220661 189842 851093

3008864 2795413 1283791

State

Current 818938 860500 646717
Deferred 158686 25700 188545

660252 834800 458172

Foreign

Current 818938 237848 240108
Deferred 158686 7848 10108

660252 230000 230000

3669116 $3860213 $1971963

Through December 31 2008 the Company has not provided deferred income taxes on the undistributed

earnings of its foreign subsidiary because such earnings are intended to be permanently reinvested outside the
U.S Determination of the potential deferred income tax liability on these undistributed earnings is not practicable
At December 31 2008 the Company had $683000 of undistributed earnings in its foreign subsidiary
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Deferred income taxes are comprised of the following at December 31 2007 and 2008

2007 2008

Deferred Tax Assets

Non-compete agreements 1046036 900252

Other liabilities 2703010 2917310

Vacation benefits 714177 745677

Inventory basis differences 274563 251687

Receivables basis differences 11873 44405

Total deferred tax assets 4749659 4859331

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Depreciation differences 2220792 2146150

Intangible amortization differences 7701118 7635082

Total deferred tax liabilities 9921910 9781232

Net deferred tax asset/liability $5172251 $4921901

reconciliation between the provision for income taxes computed at statutory rates and the amount reflected

in the accompanying statements of income is as follows

December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2007 2008

Statutory federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 34.0%

State income tax net of federal income tax benefit 4.6 4.9 27.6

Research and experimentation credit 55.1

Non-deductible goodwill
151.3

Cash surrender value of life insurance .2 .7 21.9

Domestic production deduction 1.0 2.2 13.2

Other .2 13.6

Effective income tax rate 38.9% 36.8% 180.1%

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 2007 At December 31 2007 the Company had

recorded $2033000 of unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penalties of $102000 This liability

related to ongoing tax filing positions taken by the Company in its previously filed US Federal and State tax returns

In connection with the adoption of FIN 48 the Company determined this $2135000 did not meet the recognition

provisions of FIN 48 and no material adjustments were required upon adoption Interest and penalties as

appropriate are recorded as component of the Companys tax liability and tax provision Interest and penalties

recorded for the year ended December 31 2008 were approximately $52000
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reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits exclusive of accrued

interest and penalties of $102000 at January 2008 and $154000 at December 31 2008 is as follows

Unrecognized tax benefits at January 2007 296000

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 1599000

Subtractions for tax positions of prior years 138000

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2007 2033000

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

Subtractions for tax positions of prior years 536000

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2008 $1497000

In 2008 tax benefits of $515000 and the reversal of accrued interest and penalties of $89000 were recognized

as result of the lapse of the statute of limitations for tax year 2002 The remaining balances represent unrecognized

tax benefits that would decrease the Companys effective tax rate upon recognition The Company believes that it is

reasonably possible unrecognized tax benefits of $1497000 and accruals for interest and penalties of $65000 will

reverse in 2009 as result of the Internal Revenue Service examination of the Companys U.S income tax returns

for 2003 through 2006 As of December 31 2008 the tax years that remain subject to examination by the IRS and

other jurisdictions are 2003 to 2008

Lines of Credit and Term Loan Facility

On August 2005 the Company entered into an amended and restated financing agreement the Amended
Agreement with Bank of America N.A the Bank The Amended Agreement included revolving line of

credit of $5000000 revolving acquisition line of credit of $20000000 and term loan facility of $20000000
The interest rate on both revolving lines of credit and the term loan was the prime rate or at the Companys option

LIBOR cost of funds rate or the Banks fixed rate plus range of 1.25% to 2.25% depending on the ratio of

consolidated funded debt to consolidated EBITDA as defined in the Amended Agreement The Amended

Agreement required monthly payments of principal based on seven year amortization schedule with final

payment due on the fifth anniversary of the Amended Agreement The Amended Agreement required compliance
with certain covenants including the maintenance of specified net worth income and other financial ratios

In October 2006 the Company borrowed against its acquisition line of credit to finance the acquisition of

Keller Group Incorporated Keller In order to refinance the borrowings incurred for the Keller acquisition the

Company and the Bank executed Second Amended and Restated Loan Agreement as of November 2006 the

Second Agreement comprised of uncollateralized senior credit facilities totaling $60000000 The Second

Agreement amended and restated the Amended Agreement to increase the term loan facility to an aggregate

principal amount of $35000000 and used the proceeds of the increase in the term loan to repay the outstanding

principal balance under the acquisition line of credit and to adjust the allocation of availability under the lines of

credit by increasing the revolving line of credit to $10000000 $5000000 of which may be used for future

acquisitions and decreasing the acquisition line of credit from $20000000 to $15000000 The interest rate on

both lines of credit and the term loan was the prime rate or at the Companys option LIBOR cost of funds rate or

the Banks fixed rate plus in each case range of 1.25% to 3.00% depending on the ratio of consolidated total

funded debt to consolidated EBITDA as each is defined in the Second Agreement The term loan facility portion

of the Second Agreement requires monthly interest payments and monthly payments of principal based on seven

year amortization schedule with final payment due on the fifth anniversary of the Second Agreement The Second

Agreement requires compliance with certain covenants including the maintenance of specified net worth

minimum consolidated total EBITDA debt to income ratio and other financial ratios

The Second Agreement was amended on May 2008 effective March 31 2008 to revise certain financial

targets within these covenants Additionally the Bank and the Company agreed to consolidate the revolving line of

credit with the acquisition line of credit into single line of credit of $25000000 to be used by the Company for
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general corporate purposes including potential acquisitions The Second Agreement was also amended on

September 2008 on account of the acquisition of Dental Art which increased the Companys outstanding debt

and therefore required an adjustment to an affected financial covenant The Company further amended the

agreement on December 16 2008 to extend the maturity of the line of credit to November 2011 The amendment

changed the interest rate on both the line of credit and the term loan to prime rate or at the Companys option

LIBOR cost of funds rate or the Banks fixed rate plus in each case range of 2.50% to 3.50% depending on the

ratio of consolidated total funded debt to consolidated EBITDA as each is defined in the Second Agreement and

increased the commitment fee on the unused portion of the line of credit from .125% to .50% In addition the

amendment revised certain financial targets within the covenants Finally on March 13 2009 the Second

Agreement was amended to exclude the $6950000 goodwill impairment discussed previously from the calculation

of EBITDA used in determining compliance with certain financial covenants These amendments did not change

the total availability under the Second Agreement

Prior to the consolidation of the credit lines $3800000 was borrowed under the acquisition line of credit This

amount represents cumulative payments of deferred laboratory purchase price obligations drawn from the revolving

line of credit since November 2006 when the loan agreement was amended and has been classified as long-term

debt Additionally $10000000 was borrowed under the consolidated revolving line of credit to fund the purchase

of Dental Art and has been classified as long-term debt

As of December 31 2008 $8260000 was available under the consolidated revolving line of credit

Long-Term Obligations

Term note

Borrowings classified as long term under the revolving line of credit.

Borrowings classified as short term under the revolving line of

credit

Other long-term debt __________ __________

Total long-term debt

Less current maturities
____________ ____________

Long-term debt less current portion __________ __________

The table below reflects the expected repayment terms associated with the long-term debt at December 31

2008 The interest rate associated with the Companys borrowings as of December 31 2008 was 4.2%

December 31 2008

Principal Due

Fiscal 2009 5115000

Fiscal 2010 5083000

Fiscal 2011 31407000

Fiscal 2012 84000

509000

Total $42198000

Benefit Plans

The Company has qualified retirement plan under Intemal Revenue Code Sections 401a and 401k the

401k Plan The 401k Plan allows contributions of up to 10% of participants salary portion of which is

matched in cash by the Company The Company contributes cash once year within 120 days after December 31

December 31
2008

$24583000

13800000

December 31
2007

$29583000

112000

29695000

5064000

$24631000

2940000

875000

42198000

5115000

$37083000

Thereafter
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the 401k Plans year-end All employees are eligible to participate in the 401k Plan after completing one year of

service with the Company and the attainment of
age 21 Participants are fully vested immediately in employee

contributions and become fully vested in the Companys matching conthbutions after six years of service or upon

attaining age
65 The Company has incurred charges to operations of approximately $777000 $826000 and

$849000 to match contributions for the
years

ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

The Company had cash incentive plan the Laboratory Plan for dental laboratory management and other

designated key employees who directly influenced the financial performance of an individual dental laboratory

Participant eligibility was determined annually for each laboratory and each participant was eligible to receive an

amount based on the achievement of certain earnings levels and other performance metrics by the participants

laboratory The Company incurred charges to operations of approximately $4081000 and $3872000 for the years

ended December 31 2006 and 2007 respectively under the Laboratory Plan

Beginning in 2008 new incentive program was implemented to provide incentives for growth in profits with

participant eligibility to be determined on an ongoing and discretionary basis The Company has incurred charges to

operations of approximately $591000 for the year ended December 31 2008 under this program

The Company has an executive bonus plan the Executive Plan for key executives and management of the

Company Eligibility to participate in this plan is determined annually Participants are eligible to receive cash

bonus based on percentage of salary dependent upon the achievement of earnings targets as defined The bonus

is distributed within 90 days after year-end The Company has incurred aggregate charges to operations of

approximately $150000 $448000 and $50000 for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008

respectively with respect to this plan

The Company established Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERP for certain key employees

providing for annual benefits payable over period of 10
years beginning at age

65 or date of retirement Benefits

are funded by life insurance contracts purchased by the Company These benefits vest to the participating

employees over periods of up to ten years
The charges to expense

for the years ended December 31 2006
2007 and 2008 were approximately $495000 $727000 and $688000 respectively and are recorded as accrued

liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company is committed under various non-cancelable operating lease agreements covering its office space

and dental laboratory facilities and certain equipment Certain of these leases also require the Company to pay

maintenance repairs insurance and related taxes The total rental expense for the years ended December 31 2006

2007 and 2008 was approximately $4135000 $5061000 and $4888000 respectively The approximate aggre

gate minimum lease commitments under these operating leases as of December 31 2008 are as follows

Year Amount

2009 4577000

2010 4053000

2011 3409000

2012 3095000

2013 2348000

Thereafter 5555000

$23037000
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Employment Contracts and Change-in-Control Arrangements

In April 1995 January 2001 May 2004 October 2006 and August 2008 the Company entered into

employment contracts and change-in-control arrangements with certain key executives The initial term of these

employment contracts is three
years

and the contracts by their terms renew automatically thereafter until

termination by the Company or the executive The change-in-control arrangements provide certain severance

benefits in the event that the executive is terminated by the Company without cause or the executive terminates his

employment contract for certain specified reasons

Stock Options and Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Stock Option Plans

In May 1992 the Companys Board of Directors the Board adopted the 1992 Long-Term Incentive Plan

the LTIP Under the LTIP the Board may grant stock options stock appreciation rights restricted stock

deferred stock stock purchase rights and other share-based payments to key employees officers and directors of the

Company The Board amended the LTIP to increase the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance

under the plan from 225000 to 352500 in August 1995 to 502500 in April 1997 and to 727500 in April 1998

As of May 2002 no additional options may be granted under this plan These options vest over three years from date

of grant with maximum term of ten years

The following summarizes the transactions of the Companys LTIP for the
years

ended December 31 2006

2007 and 2008

____________________________
2007

____________________________

Weighted Average Weighted Average Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Granted

Exercised

Canceled
________ ______ ________ ______ ________ ______

Outstanding at end of

year 308544
_____ ________ _____ _______ _____

Exercisable at end of

year 308544

Weighted average
fair

value of options

granted

Options_Outstanding _______________________
Number Weighted Average Weighted Average

Outstanding at Remaining Exercise Price

__________________
12/31/08 Contractual Life per Share

__________ _______________

45000 1.3 8.67

3180 1.0 11.17

______ 2.1 13.70 ______ _____

______ 1.9 $12.18
______ _____

In January 2001 the Companys Board of Directors adopted the 2001 Stock Plan Under this plan the Board

may grant share based payments to key employees officers and directors of the Company The Board reserved

2006

Outstanding at beginning

of year 359181 $12.14

2008

308544 $12.10

45592

5045

12.35

12.78

39900

25079

13.34

13.15

$12.10 243565 $11.79

$12.10 243565 $11.79

243565 $11.79

20250 9.33

68985 11.64

154330 $12.18

154330 $12.18

Options Exercisable

Number Weighted Average
Exercisable Exercise Price

at 12/31/08 Per Share

45000 8.67

3180 11.17

106150 13.70

154330 $12.18

Exercise Price Range

$8.67 per share

$11.17 per share

$13.50 to $16.59 per share. 106150

154330
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450000 shares of common stock for issuance under the Plan In April 2004 the Board amended the 2001 Stock Plan

to increase the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the plan from 450000 to 825000 In

2008 the Company granted performance options for 275000 shares to certain executives under the 2001 stock plan

An aggregate of 136055 shares remain available for future grants under this plan Options under this plan to-date

generally vest over three years from date of grant with maximum term of ten years

The following summarizes the transactions of the Companys 2001 Stock Plan for the
years

ended Decem
ber 31 2006 2007 and 2008

318000 $14.53 563000 $13.25

Exercisable at end of

year 331950

Weighted average
fair

value of options

granted

$14.52 318000 $14.53 288000 $14.45

Also the Company has the 1992 Employees Stock Purchase Plan the ESPP as amended by the

stockholders in May 2007 under which an aggregate of 450000 shares of the Companys common stock have

been reserved These shares may be purchased in the current plan year through payroll deduction program

primarily at price equal to 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on either April 2007 or March 31

2008 whichever is lower Approximately 136000 shares are available for future purchases as of December 31

2008 The number of shares of common stock purchased through the Stock Purchase Plan for 2006 2007 and 2008

were 25318 24030 and 33375 respectively

10 Stock-Based Compensation

The Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No 123 Revised 2004

SFAS 123R Share Based Payments and Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107 SAB 107 on January 2006

SFAS 23R requires the Company to measure and recognize in its consolidated statement of income the expense

associated with all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors The Companys awards include

stock options awards and shares issued under the terms of the Companys ESPP The estimated fair value of stock

compensation cost is recognized over the employees or directors service vesting period The Company

2006 2007 2008

Weighted Average Weighted Average Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning

ofyear 358925 $14.52 331950 $14.52 318000 $14.53

Granted 275000 12.00

Exercised 25975 14.52 2550 13.96

Canceled 1000 13.37 11400 14.51 30000 15.22

Outstanding at end of

year 331950 $14.52

Exercise Price Range

$12.00 per share

$13.37 per
share

$13.93 to $16.45 per
share.

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Number Weighted Average Weighted Average Number Weighted Average

Outstanding at Remaining Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

12/31/08 Contractual Life Per Share at 12/31/08 Per Share

275000 9.6 $12.00

156650 3.0 13.37 156650 13.37

131350 2.9 15.75 131350 15.75

563000 6.2 $13.25 288000 $14.45
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implemented SFAS 123R using the modified prospective approach All stock options issued prior to January 12006

were fully vested upon implementation of SFAS 123R

Prior to January 2006 the Company accounted for share-based payments under APB Opinion No 25

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees APB 25 Under APB 25 compensation cost was not recognized for

options granted because the exercise price of options granted was equal to the market value of the Companys

common stock on the measurement date and the ESPP plan was deemed non-compensatory

As result of the adoption of FAS 123R the accompanying consolidated statement of income for the years

ended December 31 2007 and 2008 include $161000 and $179000 of stock based compensation expense

Compensation cost is measured on the grant date of the option which is the date the Companys Board of Directors

approves
the granting of the option Compensation cost on discounts associated with ESPP purchases is estimated

on the date that share rights are granted To measure the fair value of stock option grants the Company utilizes the

Black-Scholes option valuation method The requisite service period for substantially all of the Companys stock

options is the explicit vesting period included in the terms of the stock option award Accordingly the Company

estimates compensation expense
based on the number of options it believes will ultimately vest which includes an

estimate of the number of options expected to be forfeited The estimated fair value of stock option grants will be

recognized on straight line basis over the requisite service period of the award The Company periodically reviews

its estimate of forfeitures and revises the estimate as facts and circumstances warrant

In April 2001 the Companys shareholders approved the 2001 Stock Plan the 2001 Plan under which

awards may be granted to key employees officers and directors in the form of stock options The Companys

shareholders approved an amendment to the 2001 Plan on May 16 2006 to allow for the issuance of restricted stock

and restricted stock units The maximum number of shares or units that may be issued under the 2001 Plan as

amended is 825000 subject to sub-limit of 82500 shares for restricted stock awards and restricted stock unit

awards At December 31 2008 options to purchase total of 563000 shares were outstanding and there were

136055 shares available for grant under the 2001 Plan The Company also has the LTIP under which similar stock

options also were granted At December 31 2008 options to purchase total of 154330 shares were outstanding

under the LTIP No further awards will be made under the LTIP Stock option awards granted under the 2001 Plan

and the LTIP generally vest ratably over three
years on the anniversary date of the grants and are exercisable

generally over period of ten years

During 2008 the Company granted 275000 shares of performance-based stock options which would vest

upon the achievement of specific financial performance targets during 2009 2010 and 2011 The Company has

assumed that none of these performance-based awards will vest and accordingly has not provided for compensation

expense associated with the awards The Company periodically evaluates the likelihood of reaching the perfor

mance requirements and would be required to recognize aggregate compensation expense
of approximately

$1230000 if the targets are fully met

In 1992 shareholders approved the establishment of the ESPP commencing April 1992 Upon enrollment

employees purchase shares of the Companys common stock at the end of each plan year through payroll

deductions at discount of 15% of the lower of the market price on the date of grant or the date of exercise as

quoted on NASDAQ
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summary of stock option activity and related information for the year ended December 31 2008 and the

year ended December 31 2007 is as follows

LTIP Plan 2001 Plan

Weighted- Weighted-
Shares Average Shares Average

Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise

Options Price Options Price

Outstanding December 31 2006 308544 $12.10 331950 $14.52

Granted

Exercised 39900 13.34 2550 13.96

Forfeited 25079 13.15 11400 14.51

Outstanding December 31 2007 243565 $11.79 318000 $14.53

Granted 275000 12.00

Exercised 20250 9.33

Forfeited 68985 11.64 30000 15.22

Outstanding December 31 2008 154330 $12.18 563000 $13.25

Exercisable at end of periodS 154330 $12.18 563000 $13.25

For the year ended December 31 2008 the Company granted 20280 shares of restricted stock and 10140

restricted stock units as directors fees under the 2001 Plan as amended in May 2006 For the year ended

December 31 2007 the Company granted 6001 shares of restricted stock and 6003 restricted stock units as

directors fees The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to these shares and units of

$270000 and $165365 for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

The following table summarizes restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards for the
year

ended Decem
ber 31 2008 and year ended December 31 2007 as follows

Restricted Stock Restricted Stock Units

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Grant Date Fair Grant Date Fair

Number of Shares Value Number of Shares Value

Nonvested December 31 2006

Granted 6001 $17.99 6003 $17.99

Vested 1596 $22.55 3192 $22.55

Nonvested December 31 2007 6001 $17.99 6003 $17.99

Granted 20280 $10.65 10140 $10.65

Vested 15373 $15.44 12364 $17.29

Nonvested December 31 2008 15505 $11.39 6971 $10.65

As of December 31 2008 there was $154125 and $40500 of total unrecognized compensation cost for

restricted stock and restricted stock units respectively and no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock

options That cost will be recognized over weighted average period of 12 months As of December 31 2007 there

was $100125 and $40500 of total unrecognized compensation cost for restricted stock and restricted stock units

respectively and no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options The total aggregate intrinsic value of

share-based payments outstanding as of December 31 2008 was $0 Aggregate intrinsic value is calculated by

subtracting the exercise price of the option from the closing price of the Companys common stock on December 31

2008 multiplied by the number of shares per each option In addition the weighted average remaining contractual

life of options outstanding as of December 31 2008 is 5.3 years The total intrinsic value of options exercised during

the
year

ended December 31 2008 was $0
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The following tables summarize the significant assumptions used to estimate stock compensation costs for the

ESPP for the periods indicated

January 1- April 1-

March 31 December 31
2008 2008

Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value 4.18 3.91

Risk-free Interest Rate 4.92% 2.25%

Expected Volatility 30.29% 40.54%

Expected Holding Period 1.0 Year 1.0 Year

Expected Forfeiture Rate 9.67% 6.70%

Expected Dividends None None

January 1- April 1-

March 31 December 31
2007 2007

Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value 6.69 4.18

Risk-free Interest Rate 5.27% 4.92%

Expected Volatility 33.19% 30.29%

Expected Holding Period 1.0 Year 1.0 Year

Expected Forfeiture Rate 5.70% 9.67%

Expected Dividends None None

The weighted average grant date fair value was calculated under the Black-Scholes option-pricing model The

risk free interest rate is based on the yield of U.S Treasury securities that correspond to the expected holding period

of the options The Company reviewed the historic volatility of its common stock and the implied volatility for at-

the-money options to purchase shares of the Companys common stock Based on this data the Company uses the

1-year historic volatility of the Companys common stock and the average implied volatility of at-the-money

options The 1-year historical volatility period was selected since that period corresponds with the expected holding

period The expected forfeiture rate was determined based on the historical ESPP forfeiture data The dividend yield

was based on the Companys expected dividend rate

Prior to adopting FAS 123R the Company had disclosed the pro forma effects of stock-based compensation in

accordance with FAS 148 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure an amend

ment of FASB Statement No 123 The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if

the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No 123 Accounting for Stock-

Based Compensation to stock-based employee compensation during the year ended December 31 2005 as

required by FAS 148

11 Segment Information

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 131 SFAS 131 Disclosures

about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information SFAS 131 establishes standards for disclosing

information about reportable segments in financial statements Laboratory operating income includes the direct

profits generated by laboratories owned by the Company and excludes general and administrative expenses of the

Companys corporate location including amortization expenses associated with the Companys intangible assets as

well as interest expense

In March 2005 the Company acquired Green Dental Laboratories Inc of Heber Springs Arkansas The

Company identified Green as separate operating segment since it met the quantitative thresholds of SFAS 131 In

October 2006 the Company acquired Keller Group Incorporated privately-held dental laboratory business with

production facilities in both St Louis Missouri and Louisville Kentucky The Company has also identified Keller

as separate operating segment as it meets the quantitative thresholds of SFAS 131 As result the Company has

three reportable segments The accounting policies of this segment are consistent with those described for the

consolidated financial statements in the summary of significant accounting policies
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The following table sets forth information about the Companys reportable segments for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 Prior to the fourth quarter of 2006 the Company had two reportable segments

and prior to 2005 the Company had only one reportable segment

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2007 2008

Revenue

NDX Laboratories $126543054 $127388588 $126240949

Green Dental Laboratory 18817607 19859770 20724865

Keller Group 4863988 23843093 25987992

Subtotal 150224649 171091451 172953806

Inter-segment Revenues

NDX Laboratories 370913 438200

Green Dental Laboratory 117242 199525 369526

Keller Group 160384 471645

Net Sales $150107407 $170360629 $171674435

Laboratory Operating Income

NDX Laboratories 16840606 17572491 15059508

Green Dental Laboratory 4820007 4665630 4795136

Keller Group 446151 3228640 3660913

22106764 25466761 23515557

Total Assets

NDX Laboratories 87414371 87811020 93661985

Green Dental Laboratory 26537905 26756893 26140524

Keller Group 24848553 25769930 25634168

Corporate 9689455 15301300 16078226

$148490284 $155639143 $161514903

Capital Expenditures

NDX Laboratories 4670309 4604908 5606100

Green Dental Laboratory 350299 463763 161415

Keller Group 45073 756581 420628

Corporate 519572 1871058 899243

5585253 7696310 7087386

Depreciation Amortization on Properly Plant

Equipment

NDX Laboratories 2152833 2579090 3114183

Green Dental Laboratory 271476 330820 330698

Keller Group 98433 452935 532410

Corporate 611757 691769 894591

3134499 4054614 4871882
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Reconciliation of Laboratory Operating Income with reported Consolidated Operating Income

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2007 2008

Laboratory Operating Income $22106764 $25466761 $23515557

Less

Corporate Selling General and Administrative Expenses 9623752 10894225 12220728

Amortization Expense Intangible Assets 1528059 1283720 1139796

Goodwill Impairment 6950000

Add

Other Expense 786292 771660 746633

Consolidated Operating Income $11741245 $14060476 3951666
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

David Brown President Chief Executive Officer and Director certify that

have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of National Dentex Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in

which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the

period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Is David Brown

David Brown

President Chief Executive Officer and Director

March 16 2009



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

Wayne Coil Vice President and Chief Financial Officer certify that

have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of National Dentex Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact
necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 15d- 15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in

which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the

period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Is Wayne Coll

Wayne Coll

Vice President Chief Financial Officer

March 16 2009



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of National Dentex Corporation the Company on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2008 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the

Report David Brown President Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company certify pursuant to

18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to my
knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and result of operations of the Company

By Is David Brown

David Brown

President Chief Executive Officer and Director

March 16 2009



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of National Dentex Corporation the Company on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the

Report Wayne Coll Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company certify pursuant to

18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to my

knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and result of operations of the Company

By Is Wayne Coll

Wayne Coil

Vice President Chief Financial Officer

March 16 2009
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